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Directors’ report
Preem AB (PuBl)

Corporate ID number 556072-6977

Preem AB (publ) is wholly-owned by Corral Petroleum Holdings 
AB (publ).

Corral Petroleum Holdings AB (publ) is a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of moroncha Holdings Co. limited (Cyprus).

Operations 
Preem AB (publ) (Preem) is Sweden’s largest oil company, and 
through its two refineries in Gothenburg and lysekil it accounts for 
about 80% of Swedish refining capacity and about 30% of Nordic re-
fining capacity. Preem conducts extensive refining of crude oil and 
sales of petroleum products to oil companies active in Sweden and 
in the international market, primarily in northwestern europe. Sales 
of gasoline, diesel, heating oil, fuel oil and lubricating oils on the 
Swedish market to private customers, large and small companies, 
are conducted via our own marketing channels, Preem Partners and 
gasoline stations. About two thirds of production is exported, which 
makes Preem one of the largest Swedish exporters. 

The Market
After a substantial decline at the end of 2008, the price of oil rose in 
2009. The year started with a crude oil price (Dated Brent) of uSD 40/
barrel and ended at a price of uSD 78/barrel. The highest price of the 
year was quoted in November, at uSD 79/barrel. The main reason 
for rising oil prices was OPeC’s reduced production of crude oil and a 
heightened belief that economic growth in the world would return.

Demand for refined products declined globally. The worldwide re-
cession led to the global demand for products decreasing in the or-
der of 1.6% (International energy Agency, December 2009). much 
of the decrease was the declining demand for middle distillates 
such as jet fuel and diesel. Declining demand resulted in soaring 
stock volumes of middle distillates in the second half of 2009.
The global margins for gasoline improved in 2009. Global demand 
for gasoline remained stable, while the range decreased slightly 
due to lower capacity utilization at refineries in the uS.

refining margins dropped substantially in 2009. The fall in demand for 
diesel was a major contributory factor to the lower refining margins. The 
international reference margin for complex refineries in northwestern 
europe (IeA Brent Cracking) was uSD 1.29/barrel (4.74) in 2009.

Developments in the Swedish oil market were fragmented in 2009. 
Domestic heating oil continued to decline due to the switch to alter-
native energy sources while the market for heavy heating oils grew. 

The extensive price war in the Swedish gasoline market in previous 
years has continued to decline in 2009 but still has an adverse 
effect on the industry’s profitability. The total gasoline market fell 
by 2.5% in 2009 compared to 2008 (Statistics Sweden, November 
2009). Over the same period, the total diesel market decreased by 

1.5%. Preem has strengthened its position in both markets with im-
proved margins and increased volumes resulting in higher market 
shares. Preem is now a leader in diesel, heating oil 1 and heating oil 
2-6 in the Swedish market.

The rollout of the Preem store concept and station layout has 
continued during the year and concept stores showed continued 
positive development in both volumes and profitability. For a num-
ber of stations, the most successful elements of the concept have 
been rolled out. 

Production
The Group’s operations consist to a great extent of refining crude 
oil at two refineries, Preemraff lysekil and Preemraff Göteborg. 
During the year total production reached a level of 17.5 (18.2) 
million m3. The sourcing of crude oil had the following breakdown: 
North Sea 51% (49%), russia 48% (47%) and the middle east 1% 
(4%). 68% (67%) of products sold were exported.

A planned regeneration stop was conducted at the gasoline facility 
in Gothenburg in the fall. At the same time installations were 
made to prepare for the refining of tall oil (biorefining), which is 
scheduled to start in spring 2010. This meant that production was 
reduced from 6.8 (2008) to 6.0 million m3 (2009). The refinery at 
lysekil showed a high availability (99.5%) during the year with sta-
ble operations, which paved the way for an equaling of the record 
production level of 11.6 (11.3) million m3.

Production of diesel totaled 7.4 (7.8) million m3, corresponding to 
42% (43%) of total production. In addition to these positive results, 
all targets in the areas of energy and the environment were  
achieved or exceeded.

The conversion of the crude oil facility in Gothenburg was com-
pleted with a view to improving mobility and energy consumption. 
In lysekil, the modification of the vacuum distillation facility was 
completed, which has increased the total refining capacity and 
the desulfurization facilities which have led to the possibility of a 
further increase in refining of the already previously high share of 
high-sulfur crude oil.

The Environment
Preem conducts a number of activities that are licensable and 
notifiable under the environmental Code for which the main 
environmental impact is through emissions to air of carbon dioxide, 
nitrogen oxides, sulfur oxides and volatile hydrocarbons, as well as 
emissions to water and noise.

Preem’s refineries in lysekil and Gothenburg conduct licensable “A” 
activities with licenses for the refining of petroleum products under 
the environmental Code. The impact on the environment is mainly 
through the emissions to the atmosphere of carbon dioxide, nitrogen 
oxides, sulfur oxides and volatile hydrocarbons. The licenses are 
subject to conditions and an associated control program, both for 
the operation itself and for local surroundings. The environmental 
conditions cover such things as capacity limitation, emissions to the 
atmosphere and to water, noise and waste. 
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The emission control program has been set by the County Adminis-
trative Board. The control program describes in detail the checks and 
reports that apply to the refinery’s self-inspection of raw materials 
consumption and production, emissions to the atmosphere and to 
water, as well as noise and waste.

Preemraff lysekil is licensed under the environmental Code to under-
take the production of fuels at the refinery complex on Brofjorden. 
Production is limited to an annual throughput of 11.4 million tons. The 
license was granted in a part judgment from the environmental Court 
on June 30, 2004. The license has 36 final conditions, ten provisional 
conditions and a requirement for eleven test period reports, all of 
which have been submitted. All conditions pertaining to Preemraff 
lysekil were satisfied for 2009.

Preemraff Göteborg has a license under the environmental Code to 
undertake the production of fuel, etc. at the refinery facility at Hisingen, 
and production is limited to an annual throughput of 6 million tons. 
The license was granted in part judgments from the environmental 
Court on July 3, 2002 and December 20, 2004, with a total of 14 final 
conditions. All the test period reports required in the judgment were 
submitted within the stipulated time period.

The judgment dated November 17, 2006 defined seven additional final 
conditions. The Swedish Society for Nature Conservation appealed three 
of the Court’s conditions, and requested one additional condition. 
The environmental Court handed down its judgment on February 
14, 2008, to the effect that the previous judgment was affirmed and 
the Swedish Society for Nature Conservation’s request for further 
conditions was rejected. An appeal against this judgment was lodged 
with the Supreme Court of Sweden by the Swedish Society for 
Nature Conservation, but the Supreme Court resolved on February 
26, 2009 not to grant leave to appeal. The judgment of the Supreme 
environmental Court was thus confirmed. All conditions pertaining to 
Preemraff Göteborg were satisfied for 2009.

The fixed allocation of CO2 emission rights for Preem refineries was 
2.47 million/year for the 2008-2012 trading period. During normal 
operation of the refineries Preem expects a small surplus of emission 
rights during this period.
 
At the six operational depots, every year more than 50,000 tons and 
500,000 tons respectively of petroleum products, petrochemical 
products and oils are stored and handled, which requires licensing in 
accordance with the environmental Code for so-called “B” activities. 
Whether the operations are classified as A, B or C activities depends 
on the size of the operations and how the license is tested and 
approved. Of Preem’s operating depots, four have licenses under 
the environmental Code and one depot has a license under the 
environmental Protection Act. A licensing assessment is being carried 
out under the environmental Code for the sixth depot. For four of 
the depots, licenses granted are tied to requirements on test period 
surveys regarding possible walling-in of the tanks. In accordance with 
the licenses, Preem has submitted reports for the four depots to the 
relevant County Administrative Boards. Following this, one depot re-
ceived a decision with a requirement for walling-in. This decision was 
appealed to the environmental Court, which changed the condition to 
a new test period condition for further investigation.

The lion’s share of Preem’s gasoline stations and diesel facilities handle 
fuel in excess of 1,000 cubic meters per calendar year and are thus 
notifiable for what are known as “C” activities. Notification of the “C” 
activities is to be continuous to the various environmental agencies, 
which then inspect the Preem plants.
 
Ground remediation has been undertaken and completed within non-
operational depot areas in Ystad, Västerås and Gällivare. remediation 
in the depot areas is in progress at the gasoline and diesel chambers at 
Finnberget, at no cost to Preem because of an earlier decision by the 
Court of Appeal, one area in Falun, two areas in Karlstad and malmö as 
well as groundwater in Sundsvall. remediation and restoration work at 
Gällivare, Karlstad, Ystad, Västerås and malmö will be reported as part 
of the funds reserved in the 2005 accounts (see note 27). remedia-
tion costs for Falun are not covered by the reservation made in 2005. 
remediation costs are estimated to be SeK 2.5 million and have been 
reserved for in the 2009 financial statements. 

In connection with the non-operational depot at Gällivare, remediation 
is underway of jointly used track areas. The costs are shared jointly 
between other operators and the remediation will be completed in 
2010. In connection with the new road alignment and bridge at Sunds-
vall (e4), Preem, together with other operators, Sundsvall municipality 
and Sundsvall Oil Harbor have been summoned to a briefing by the 
Swedish road Administration. A decision on a possible injunction of 
the remediation following the road project is expected to be made in 
2010 at the earliest. 

Results
2009 was characterized by significant inventory gains in crude oil 
and finished products as a consequence of the rising world market 
prices for crude oil and refined products and good refining margins 
at the start of the year. Operating profit after financial items was 
one of the best in the company’s history. 

Profitability was also good within refinery operations. The average 
refinery margin reached uSD 4.09/barrel (7.33), while at the same 
time accessibility at the refineries at lysekil and Gothenburg con- 
tinued to be high. The deterioration of world prices for middle distill-
ates was a powerful driving factor for the fall in refining margins in 
2009. As a result of rising world market prices for high-sulfur crude 
oil, refining margins at lysekil have also been negatively impacted 
by higher acquisition costs for crude oil. 

Within the marketing division, earnings improved significantly in 
2009. Increased margins for gasoline and heating oil continued 
good margins for fuel oil and increased volumes contributed to the 
improved results. Within the gasoline station business, a significant 
improvement in earnings was evident in 2009. earnings improved 
primarily due to increased margins for both gasoline and diesel but 
also through increased volumes in both product segments.
 
Consolidated net sales totaled SeK 73,592 million (95,807). exclud- 
ing excise duties, consolidated sales revenues totaled SeK 63,813 
million (87,375). After deducting the cost of goods sold, gross pro-
fit totaled SeK 4,934 million (-617). 2009 saw a rise in the price of 
crude oil and products, causing price gains on inventories of SeK 
3,170 million, while in 2008 there had been falling prices and price 
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losses on inventories of SeK -4,523 million. 

The uS Dollar exchange rate was weaker in 2009. The year started 
with a Dollar rate of 7.75 and ended at 7.21. The weaker uS Dollar 
exchange rate resulted in exchange rate losses on inventories of 
SeK -524 million, while the corresponding effect in 2008 was a gain 
of SeK 1,241 million. 

The weaker uS Dollar exchange rate also resulted in exchange rate gains 
in the company’s loans in this currency of SeK 495 million (- 1,105). The 
profit after financial items was SeK 3,828 million (-3,150).

The Parent Company’s net sales totaled SeK 73,519 million 
(95,718), with a profit after financial items but before appropria-
tions of 3,739 million (-3,384).

In 2009 Preem provided a group contribution to Corral Petroleum 
Holdings AB (publ) of SeK 970 million and received a shareholder’s 
contribution from Corral Petroleum Holdings AB (publ) of an 
equivalent amount. 

Investments
The Group’s investments in non-current assets totaled SeK 641 
million (726). 

Financing and liquidity
At the end of the period the Group had a net loan debt of SeK 
12,645 million, compared with SeK 13,973 million as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008, a decrease of SeK 1,328 million. This decrease is 
primarily due to a positive cash flow from operating activities and 
exchange rate gains on the Company’s loans in foreign currencies. 

Cash flow from operating activities totaled SeK 1,639 million, 
compared with SeK 61 million in 2008. The profit for the year after 
financial items and a lower amount of tax paid also had a positive 
effect on cash flow from operating activities in 2009. This was 
somewhat offset by an increase in changes in working capital.
 
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents of SeK 808 million (1,068) 
and unutilized credit facilities of SeK 1,614 million (995) totaled 
SeK 2,422 million (2,063) as of December 31.

In September 2008 the Group’s syndicated bank loan was refinanced. 
The loan is subject, among other things, to a clause on the re-
quirement to satisfy a number of covenants. As of December 31 
two of these covenants were not satisfied. On January 25, 2010, 
Preem entered into an agreement with its banks with respect to 
its syndicated bank loan to obtain certain waivers. Preem is in 
full compliance with its syndicated bank loan as of December 31, 
2009. In addition and as a result of a delay in the parent company’s 
refinancing process, Preem obtained an additional waiver in march 
2010. The parent company’s refinancing has now been completed.   

As of march 26, 2010 Preem received a shareholders’ contribution 
of 500 mSeK.

For management of financial risks, see note 2.

Personnel
The average number of employees in the Group was 1,396 (1,407), 
of whom 1,382 (1,392) worked at the parent company. At the end 
of the year, the number of employees was 1,368 (1,388), of whom 
1,355 (1,373) worked at the parent company. 

Future prospects
The global recession will affect demand for refined products in 
2010 and also influence refining margins. The global economy and 
thus economic growth is expected to strengthen in 2010. Demand 
and margins for gasoline are expected to be relatively good. 
As a result of increased economic activity, demand for diesel is 
expected to increase slightly in 2010 from the historically low levels 
at the end of 2009. Preem refineries, which have a relatively high 
proportion of diesel production, are expected to benefit from the 
increased demand for diesel compared to other products. 

Profitability in the marketing division is expected to remain positive.

Proposed appropriation of profits
Non-restricted equity in the Parent Company totals SeK 3,476,691 
thousand.

The Board of Directors proposes that this amount should be appro-
priated as follows (in SeK thousand):

Carried forward  3,476,691 
Total  3,476,691

THE BOARD’S EXPLANATION
Statement, including explanations, to the 2010 annual general 
meeting regarding the group contribution provided in respect of 
the fiscal year 2009 to shareholders.

The Annual report submitted shows that a Group contribution has 
been paid to the Parent Company, Corral Petroleum Holdings AB 
(publ), of SeK 970 million and that it shall be proposed to the Annual 
General meeting that the profit be carried forward. Corral Petroleum 
Holdings AB has paid a shareholder contribution to Preem AB (publ) 
of an equivalent amount.

Explanation
The Company’s equity has been calculated in accordance with 
Swedish law through the application of the Swedish Financial  
Accounting Standards Council’s recommendation rFr 1. 

The Board of Directors is satisfied that full cover exists for the 
restricted equity of the Company and the Group after payment of 
the Group contribution.

In the light of:
the financial position at December 31, 2009 and the business plan for 
2010, the Board is satisfied that the Group contribution paid to the share-
holder is justifiable with reference to the parameters set out in Chapter 
17, section 3, subsections 2 and 3 of the Swedish Companies Act (the 
nature of the operation, scope and risks, the consolidation requirements, 
liquidity and general position of the Company and the Group, and the 
Company and the Group’s estimated performance during 2010).
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-9,778
63,813

-58,880
4,934
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-432
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4,260
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-432
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-1,016
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0
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2,811
1
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Comprehensive income statement 
SeK millions

Net sales 
excise duties 
Sales revenues 

Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

Selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Other operating income 
Operating profit/loss 

Finance income 
Finance expenses 
Net financial items
Profit/loss before tax
Tax on profit/loss for the year 
Profit/loss for the year

Other comprehensive income 
Translation differences
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Parent Company’s shareholders
minority interest

Note 5 
Notes 4 and 16

Note 16
Note 6

Note 13
Notes 7-12, 36-38 

Notes 14 and 16

Note 15

2009Note 2008

95,807
-8,432
87,375

-87,992
-617

-605
-382
567

-1,037

255
-2,368

-2,113
-3,150

938
-2,212

0
-2,212

-2,216
4

-2,212
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308
308

994
6,890

344
433
951

9,611

5
3,183

56
23

3,266
13,185

8,266
3,674

54
595
245

12,834

808

13,642

26,827

consolidated financial statement 7

Balance Sheet
SeK millions

NON-CuRRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets  
Goodwill 

Tangible non-current assets
land and buildings 
Plant and machinery 
Capitalized turnaround costs
equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings
Constructions in progress 

Financial non-current assets
Participations in associates 
receivables from affiliates
Financial assets held for trading 
Other non-current receivables 

Total non-current assets

CuRRENT ASSETS
Inventories  
Trade and other receivables
Derivatives
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Note 17

Note 18
Note 18
Note 18
Note 18
Note 18

Note 19
Notes 20, 35
Notes 21, 35

Note 22
Notes 23, 35
Notes 30, 35

Notes 24, 35

12-31-2009NoteASSETS 12-31-2008

308
308

1,014
7,303

479
479
704

9,979

5
3,136

55
26

3,222
13,509

5,223
3,327

478
667
262

9,957

1,068

11,025

24,534
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610
4,282
4,892

10
4,902

71
1,346

102
9,460

-
-

17
10,995

3,735
4

4,193
3
2
1

97
1,469
1,425

10,930
26,827

Balance Sheet
SeK millions

Equity attributable to Parent Company’s shareholders 
Share capital 
retained earnings includes comprehensive income for the year 

minority interest
Total equity

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Pension obligations 
Deferred tax liability 
Other provisions 
Borrowing
Bank overdraft facilities
Derivatives
Other non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Borrowing
Advance payments from customers
Trade and other payables
liabilities to parent company
liabilities to associates
Current tax liabilities
Derivatives
Other liabilities 
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 

TOTAL EQuITY AND LIABILITIES

Pledged assets and contingent liabilities

Note 25

Note 26
Note 15
Note 27

Notes 28, 35
Notes 29, 35
Notes 30, 35

Notes 28, 35

Note 35

Notes 30, 35
Notes 31, 35

Note 32

Note 33

12-31-2009NoteEQuITY AND LIABILITIES 12-31-2008

610
1,217
1,827

11
1,838

100
588
116

10,832
23
94
10

11,763

3,788
4

4,103
111

5
279
631

1,210
802

10,933
24,534

consolidated financial statement8
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OPENING EQuITY 01/01/2008

Comprehensive income for the year
Group contribution paid
Tax effect on Group contribution
Dividends to minorities
CLOSING EQuITY 12/31/2008

Comprehensive income for the year
Shareholders’ contributions received
Group contribution paid
Tax effect on Group contribution
Dividends to minorities
CLOSING EQuITY 12/31/09

9

4
-
-

-2
11

1
-
-
-

-3
10

4,212

-2,216
-230

61
-

1,827

2,811
970

-970
255

-
4,892

3,602

-2,216
-230

61
-

1,217

2,811
970

-970
255

-
4,282

610

-
-
-
-

610

-
-
-
-
-

610

Changes in equity
SeK millions

Minority 
interestsTotal

Ret profit/loss
including comp.
income for year

Share 
capital

Total 
Equity

4,221

-2,212
-230

61
-2

1,838

2,812
970

-970
255

-3
4,902

consolidated financial statement 9

equITY ATTrIBuTABle TO PAreNT 
COmPANY’S SHAreHOlDerS

The Board has not proposed any dividend for the current fiscal year.
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3,828
-606

3,222
-281

2,941

-1,945
-303
947

1,639

-641
22

0
-619

4,690
-5,853

-5
-109

-3
-1,280

-259
1,068

808

Cash Flow Statement
SeK millions

Operating activities
Profit/loss before tax
Adjustments for items not included in cash flow

Tax paid
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital

Cash flow from changes in working capital
Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in inventories
Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in operating receivables
Increase (+)/Decrease (-) in operating liabilities
Cash flow from operating activities

Investment activities
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment
Disposal of property, plant & equipment
Increase in financial assets
Cash flow from investment activities

Financing activities
New loans
repayment of loans
loan expenditures
Group contribution paid
Dividend paid
Cash flow from financing activities

Cash flow for the year
Opening cash and cash equivalents
CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQuIVALENTS

Note 34

2009Note 2008

-3,150
3,104

-46
-519
-565

1,858
1,579

-2,811
61

-726
12

-52
-766

16,654
-14,915

-436
-119

-2
1,182

477
591

1,068
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements
SeK millions

Preem AB (publ) (the parent company), corp. ID no. 556072-6977, 
and its subsidiaries constitute the biggest oil company in Sweden. 

The Parent Company is a joint stock company registered in and 
with its registered office in Sweden. The address of the head office 
is Warfvinges väg 45, Se-112 80 STOCKHOlm.

Preem AB (publ) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Corral Petroleum 
Holdings AB, corp. ID no. 556726-8569, which has its registered 
office in Stockholm.

On may 7, 2010 the Board of Directors approved this annual report and 
these consolidated financial statements for publication, which will be 
submitted to the Annual General meeting for adoption on may 26, 2010. 

The most important accounting policies that have been applied in pro-
ducing these consolidated financial statements are described below. 
unless otherwise specified, these policies are applied consistently.

Basis on which the statements have been produced
The consolidated financial statements for Preem AB Group (Preem) 
have been produced in accordance with the International Financial 
reporting Standards (IFrS) and the interpretations issued by the 
International Financial reporting Interpretations Committee (IFrIC) 
as adopted by the eu with the exception of IAS 33, earnings per 
share. In addition, rFr 1.2 “Supplementary Accounting rules for 
Groups” issued by the Swedish Financial reporting Board has 
 been applied. The consolidated financial statements have been 
produced according to the cost method, apart from financial assets 
held for trading and financial assets and liabilities (including deriva-
tives) valued at fair value through profit/loss for the year.

The production of reports in accordance with IFrS requires the 
use of a number of important estimates for accounting purposes. 
It also requires that management perform certain assessments 
when applying the Group’s accounting policies. For the areas that 
involve a high degree of assessment, are complex, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are of significant importance to the 
consolidated financial statements, see note 3.

The financial statements are presented in Swedish kronor (SeK), 
which is the Parent Company’s functional currency. unless other-
wise stated, all figures are rounded to the nearest million. Amounts 
in the Group consolidation system are based on thousands of 
kronor. By rounding the figures in the tables to the nearest million 
of kronor, the sum total is not exactly equal to the sum of all com-
ponents in some cases.

Standards, amendments and interpretations that came 
into force in 2009
IFrIC 13, Customer loyalty programs (valid from July 1, 2008). IFrIC 
13 explains that when products or services are sold together with 

some form of customer loyalty incentive (for example loyalty points or 
free products), this is an agreement with multiple-element arrange-
ments. The payment received from the customer is divided between 
the various elements of the agreement on the basis of each element’s 
fair value. IFrIC 13 is currently not relevant for the Group, as no 
company within the Group has a loyalty program yet.

IAS 1 (Amendment), Presentation of Financial Statements (valid from 
January 1, 2009). These amendments involve above all changes in the 
methods of presentation and the names of the financial statements. 

IAS 23 (Amendment), Borrowing Costs (valid from January 1, 2009). 
This amendment requires that a company capitalize borrowing 
costs that are directly attributable to purchasing, design or produc-
tion of an asset that takes a significant length of time to produce 
for use or sale, as an element of the cost value of the asset. The 
alternative of immediately recognizing these borrowing costs as 
expenses has been removed. The Group then applies the previous 
principle to capitalize borrowing costs which is why this change 
does not have any effect.

IFrS 7 (Amendment), means new disclosure requirements for fi-
nancial instruments are measured at fair value. The instruments are 
divided into three levels depending on the quality of input in the 
valuation. The classification of levels determines which information 
is to be provided for the instruments. These disclosure require-
ments have primarily influenced Note 35 below. 

IFrS 8, Operating Segments (valid from January 1, 2009). IFrS 8 re- 
places IAS 14 and adapts segment reporting to the requirements of 
the uS standard SFAS 131, Disclosures about segments of an enter-
prise and related information. The new standard requires that segment 
information is presented on the basis of management’s perspective, 
which means that it is presented in the way that it is used in internal 
reporting. The Group applies IFrS 8 from January 1, 2009. The infor-
mation that will be submitted for segments has been adapted and 
supplemented in a way that corresponds with the internal reports that 
are submitted to the most senior executive decision maker.

Other changes that came into force in 2009 had no effect on  
the Group.

New IFRS and interpretations that have not yet come into force
A number of new or amended IFrS and interpretive notes will only 
take effect during the coming fiscal year and have not been applied 
early when establishing these financial statements. New or changes 
to standards with future application are not planned to be applied 
early. It is currently assessed that new and changed standards will 
have no effect on the Group.

Classification, etc.
Non-current assets and non-current liabilities consist essentially of 
amounts that are expected to be recovered or paid after more than 
twelve months from the balance sheet date. 

Current assets and current liabilities consist essentially of amounts 
that are expected to be recovered or paid within twelve months of 
the balance sheet date.

Note 1. SigNificaNt accouNtiNg policieS
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Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are companies (including special purpose entities) that 
are under the control of Preem. “Control” means to have a direct 
or indirect right to formulate a company’s financial and operational 
strategies for the purpose of receiving financial benefits. When 
assessing whether control exists, consideration is given to potential 
shares providing entitlement to vote that can be immediately used 
or converted. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements as from the date on which control was transferred 
to the Group. They are excluded from the consolidated financial 
statements as from the date on which control ceases. 

The acquisition method is used to recognize the Group’s acqui-
sition of subsidiaries. The cost value of an acquisition comprises 
the fair value of assets given as payment, equity instruments 
issued and liabilities arising or assumed as of the transfer date, 
plus expenses directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable 
acquired assets and assumed liabilities and contingent liabilities in 
an acquisition of a business are initially valued at the fair values on 
the acquisition date, regardless of the scale of any possible minor-
ity interest. The surplus that comprises the difference between the 
cost value and the fair value of the Group’s share of identifiable 
acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognized 
as goodwill. When the difference is negative, this is recognized 
directly in the profit/loss for the year.

Internal Group transactions and balance sheet items, as well as 
unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies, 
are eliminated. unrealized losses are also eliminated, although 
any losses are viewed as an indication that there is a need for an 
impairment charge in the transferred asset. The accounting policies 
for subsidiaries have been amended as appropriate to guarantee a 
consistent application of the Group’s policies.

Transactions with minority stockholders
The Group applies the policy of recognizing transactions with minor-
ity stockholders as transactions with a third party. Disposals to mi-
nority stockholders result in profits and losses for the Group, which 
are recognized in the profit/loss for the year. In connection with the 
acquisition of minority shares in which the purchase price paid ex-
ceeds the acquired share of the carrying amount of the subsidiary’s 
net assets, the amount of the difference is recognized as goodwill. 
In connection with disposals to minority stockholders in which the 
purchase price received deviates from the carrying amount of the 
share of the net assets disposed, a profit or loss arises. This profit or 
loss is recognized in the profit/loss for the year.

Associates
Associates are all companies in which the Group has significant but 
not controlling influence, which mainly applies for stockholdings 
that encompass between 20% and 50% of votes. As from the date 
on which the significant influence is obtained, shares in associates 
are recognized in the consolidated financial statements according 
to the equity method and are valued initially at the cost value. 
The Group’s carrying amount of holdings in associates includes 
goodwill that is identified upon acquisition, net after any necessary 
impairment charges.

Any difference upon acquisition between the cost value of the 
stockholding and the owner company’s share of the fair value net 
of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabili-
ties is recognized according to the same principles as in connection 
with the acquisition of subsidiaries.

The Group’s share of the profit that arises in the associate after 
the acquisition is recognized in the profit/loss for the year, and its 
share of changes in equity after the acquisition, is recognized in the 
“reserves” item. Accumulated changes after the acquisition are re-
cognized as a change in the stockholding’s carrying amount. When 
the Group’s share in an associate’s losses is equal to or exceeds its 
holding in the associate, including any unsecured receivables, the 
Group does not recognize any additional losses unless the Group has 
assumed obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

unrealized profits on transactions between the Group and its associate 
are eliminated in relation to the Group’s holding in the associate. 
unrealized losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction consti-
tutes evidence that there is a need for an impairment charge on the 
transferred asset. 

The equity method is applied until the date on which the significant 
influence ceases.

Segment reporting
An operating segment is part of the Group that runs operations 
from which it can generate revenues and incur expenses for which 
separate financial information is available. An operating segment’s 
results are followed up by the company’s chief executive decision-
makers to evaluate the performance and to allocate resources to 
the operating segment. See Note 4 for a further description of the 
classification and presentation of segments.

Translation of foreign currency 
Functional currency and reporting currency
Items included in the financial statements for the various entities in 
the Group are valued in the currency used in the financial environ-
ment where each company has its main operations (functional 
currency). The consolidated financial statements are produced in 
Swedish kronor (SeK), which is the Parent Company’s functional 
currency and reporting currency.

Transactions and balance sheet items 
Transactions in foreign currency are translated into the functional 
currency according to the exchange rates prevailing on the trans-
action date. exchange rate gains/losses that arise when paying 
for such transactions and when translating monetary assets and 
liabilities in foreign currency at the exchange rate on the balance 
sheet date are recognized in the profit/loss for the year. exchange 
rate changes that arise during the time between invoicing of and 
payment for products affect the Group’s gross profit/loss. Other 
exchange rate changes affect the Group’s net financial income/ex-
pense. The Company does not hedge transactions or investments 
in foreign currency. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are recog-
nized at the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date.
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Group companies
The profit/loss and financial position of all Group companies that 
have a different functional currency than the reporting currency 
are translated into the Group’s reporting currency as follows: as-
sets and liabilities for each of the balance sheets are translated at 
the exchange rate on the balance sheet date, income and expenses 
are translated at the average exchange rate, and all exchange 
rate differences that arise are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. 

Any consolidation exchange rate differences that arise as a 
consequence of translating net investments in foreign operations 
are posted to the comprehensive income statement. In connec-
tion with the disposal of a foreign operation, wholly or partly, the 
exchange rate differences recognized in equity are posted to 
profit/loss for the year and recognized as an element of the capital 
gain/loss.

Goodwill and adjustments of fair value that arise in connection 
with the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 
liabilities in this operation and are translated at the exchange rate 
on the balance sheet date. 

Tangible non-current assets
All tangible non-current assets are recognized at cost value minus 
accumulated amortization and any impairment, apart from any 
relating to land, platinum and palladium, which are recognized under 
plant and equipment, as these are included as catalysts in the 
reformer and isomerization plants and are not consumed. Property, 
plant and equipment that consists of elements with different useful 
lives are treated as separate components of property, plant and 
equipment. 

The cost value includes expenses that can be directly attributed 
to the acquisition of the assets. Additional expenses are added to 
the asset’s carrying amount or are recognized as a separate asset, 
depending on which is applicable. The expenses are added to the 
asset’s carrying amount only if it is likely that the future financial 
benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the 
asset’s cost value can be measured in a reliable way. The carrying 
amount for the replaced element is removed from the balance 
sheet. All other kinds of repairs and maintenance are recognized as 
expenses during the period in which they arise.

Depreciation of other assets, in order to allocate their cost value 
to the estimated residual value across the estimated useful life, is 
performed on a straight-line basis as follows:

Buildings and storage chambers  20-50 years 
Land installations    20 years
Plant and equipment   10-30 years
Audit inspection of refineries   4-5 years
Inventories, tools, fixtures and fittings  3-8 years

The refinery installations consist of a number of components 
with different useful lives. The main breakdown is into plant and 
equipment. There are, however, several components that have 
different useful lives within this main breakdown. The following 

main component groups have been identified and form the basis of 
depreciation of refinery installations:

Electrical Installations and Instruments  15 years
Heat exchangers    15 years
Steam boiler    20 years
Steel installation    30 years
Pressure vessel    30 years

The residual values and useful lives of the assets are reviewed on 
each balance sheet date and adjusted as required. An asset’s carry-
ing amount is impaired immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
This is tested in the event of an indication of such a need.

The carrying amount of a tangible non-current asset is removed 
from the balance sheet in connection with retirement or disposal, 
or when no future financial benefits are expected from the use or 
the retirement/disposal of the asset. Profits and losses in connec-
tion with a disposal are defined by means of a comparison between 
sales income and the carrying amount, and are recognized net in 
the profit/loss for the year depending on the function to which the 
asset belongs. 

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the purchasing, 
design or production of an asset which takes a significant length of 
time to produce for its intended use or sale are included in the cost 
value of the asset. 

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill constitutes the amount by which the cost value exceeds 
the fair value of the Group’s share of the acquired subsidiary’s/
associate’s identifiable net assets on the acquisition date. Goodwill 
in acquisitions of subsidiaries is recognized as intangible assets. 
Goodwill that is recognized separately is tested on an annual basis 
to identify any possible impairment need and is recognized at the 
cost value minus accumulated impairment charges. Impairment 
charges of goodwill are not reversed. A profit or loss from the 
disposal of an entity includes the residual carrying amount of the 
goodwill that relates to the disposed entity. 

Goodwill is divided among cash generating units in connection 
with the testing of a possible need for an impairment charge. This 
division is performed for the cash generating units or groups of 
cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the busi-
ness combination that gave rise to the goodwill item. The Group 
divides goodwill among operating segments. The Group’s carrying 
amount of goodwill of SeK 308 million (308) is allocated in full to 
the Supply & refining business area.

Other intangible assets
The Group has no other intangible assets that can be capitalized, 
which means that expenses for internally generated goodwill and 
trademarks, for example, are recognized as expenses as they arise. 

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indeterminate useful life, such as goodwill, are 
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not amortized, but are tested annually with regard to any possible 
impairment. Assets that are amortized are assessed with regard 
to the loss of value whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may perhaps not be recoverable. 
Impairment takes place at the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment impacts the 
profit/loss for the year. The recoverable amount is the higher of the 
asset’s fair value minus selling expenses and its value in use. When 
assessing an impairment need, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels where there are separate identifiable cash flows (cash gen-
erating units). For assets other than financial assets and goodwill 
that have previously been impaired, every day a test is performed 
to determine whether there should be a reversal. The carrying 
amount after reversal of impairments may not exceed the carrying 
amount that should have been recognized if no impairment had 
been recorded.

Inventories
Inventories are recognized at the lower of the cost and the net 
realizable value. The cost value is determined using the first in, first 
out method (FIFO). The cost value for petroleum products, which 
are expressed in uSD, is recognized at the exchange rate prevai-
ling on the date of the bill of lading. 

The cost value of finished goods and work in progress consists of 
raw material, direct wages, other direct expenses and attributable 
indirect manufacturing expenses (based on normal manufacturing 
capacity). The net realizable value is the estimated sales price in 
operating activities. 

With regard to crude oil, the replacement cost is used as the best 
available measure of the net realizable value. In cases where the 
net realizable value is below the cost value of crude oil and there 
is thus a need for impairment, the impairment charge is reduced 
in cases where the products’ net realizable value exceeds the cost 
value. The reduction in the impairment amount for the crude oil 
consists of the difference between the products’ net realizable 
value and the cost value.

Borrowed inventory is not included in the value of inventories, and in 
the same way inventory out on loan is included in the value of inven-
tories, as significant risks and benefits have not been transferred. 

Current and deferred tax 
The current tax expense is calculated on the basis of the tax rules 
adopted or adopted in practice in the countries where the parent 
company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and generate tax-
able income. management conducts regular assessments of claims 
lodged in tax returns in respect of situations in which applicable 
tax rules are subject to interpretation and makes, if it is considered 
suitable, provisions for amounts that will probably have to be paid 
to the tax authority. Taxes are recognized in the comprehensive 
income statement except when underlying transactions are recog-
nized directly in equity, in which case the associated tax effect is re-
cognized in equity. Current tax is tax that must be paid or received 
in respect of the current year. This also includes any adjustment of 
current tax attributable to previous periods.

Deferred tax is recognized in full, using the balance sheet method, 
for all temporary differences that arise between the tax base of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 
financial statements. The deferred tax is not, however, recognized 
if it arises as a consequence of a transaction that constitutes the 
first recognizing of an asset or liability that is not a business com-
bination and that, at the time of the transaction, has no effect on 
either the recognized profit/loss or the profit/loss for tax purposes. 
Deferred income tax is calculated applying tax rates (and laws) that 
have been adopted or announced as of the balance sheet date and 
that are expected to be in force when the relevant deferred tax 
asset is realized or the deferred tax liability is settled. Deferred tax 
assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future tax 
surpluses will be available against which the temporary differences 
can be utilized. The value of deferred tax assets is reduced when it 
is no longer considered likely that they can be utilized.

Provisions
Provisions for environmental restoration measures and legal require-
ments are recognized when the Group has a legal or an informal 
obligation as a consequence of earlier events, and it is likely that 
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the commitment 
and the amount can be calculated in a reliable way. The Group has 
made provisions for environmental restoration measures relating to 
the non-operational depots.

Provisions are valued at the current value of the amount that is 
expected to be required to settle the obligation. In this context 
a discount rate before tax is used that reflects a current market 
assessment of the time-based value of money and the risks that are 
associated with the provision. 

Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is recognized when there is a possible com-
mitment that originates from events that have occurred and the 
existence of which is only confirmed by one or more uncertain fu-
ture events, or when there is a commitment that is not recognized 
as a liability or a provision because it is not likely that an outflow of 
resources will be required or the outflow cannot be calculated.

A future closure of operations within the Group may involve a 
requirement for decontamination and restoration works. It is belie-
ved, however, that such an event will take place well in the future, 
and the future expenses cannot be reliably calculated, so this can-
not therefore be considered to be a contingent liability.

Employee benefits
Pension commitments
The Group has defined benefit and defined contribution pension 
plans. A defined contribution pension plan is a pension plan under 
which the Group pays fixed contributions to a separate legal entity. 
The Group has no legal or informal obligations to pay extra contri-
butions if this legal entity does not have sufficient assets to pay all 
employee benefits that are associated with the employees’ service 
during the current or previous periods. A defined benefit pension 
plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. De-
fined benefit plans are characterized by the fact that they specify 
an amount of the pension benefit that an employee receives after 
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retirement based on length of service and salary at retirement. 
The pension plans are usually financed by payments to insurance 
companies or funds managed by administrators in accordance 
with periodic actuarial calculations. The pension commitments 
have been secured by means of occupational pension insurance, 
liabilities entered into an account allocated for pensions (FPG/PrI) 
or payment to a pension foundation (the KP Foundation) in accord-
ance with the provisions of the Swedish Pension Security Act. The 
defined benefit pension plans are both funded and unfunded. If 
the plans are funded, assets have been separated in the pension 
foundation (KP Foundation). These plan assets can only be used 
to make payments in accordance with the pension agreement. The 
plan assets are valued at the fair value as of the reporting date.

The liability recognized in the balance sheet in respect of defined 
benefit pension plans is the current value of the defined benefit 
obligation on the balance sheet date minus the value of the plan 
assets, with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains and 
losses and for unrecognized expenses for service during earlier 
periods. The defined benefit pension obligation is calculated on an 
annual basis by independent actuaries applying the projected unit 
credit method. The current value of the defined benefit obligation 
is defined by discounting the estimated future cash flows using the 
interest rate for first class corporate bonds issued in the same curren-
cy in which the benefits will be paid and with terms comparable to 
those of the relevant pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses resulting from experience-based adjust-
ments and changes in actuarial assumptions in excess of 10% of the 
value of the plan assets and 10% of the defined benefit obligation 
are recognized as expenses or income over the estimated average 
remaining period of service of the employees.

expenses in respect of service during earlier periods are recog-
nized directly in the profit/loss for the year, unless the changes in 
the pension plan are conditional upon the employees’ remaining 
in service for a specified period (the qualification period). In such 
cases the expense is allocated in respect of service during earlier 
periods on a straight-line basis over the qualification period.

For defined contribution pension plans, the Group pays contribu-
tions into publicly or privately managed pension insurance plans 
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has 
no additional payment obligations once the contributions have 
been paid. The Group’s profit/loss is charged with expenses as 
the benefits are earned. Prepaid contributions are recognized as 
an asset to the extent that cash repayment or a reduction in future 
payments may benefit the Group.

Benefits upon notice of termination
Benefits upon notice of termination are paid when notice is served 
by the Group to terminate an employee’s employment before normal 
retirement age or when an employee accepts voluntary termination 
in exchange for such compensation. The Group recognizes sever-
ance payments when it has been clearly obliged either to lay off an 
employee according to a detailed, formal plan without any possibility 
of recall, or to pay compensation when serving notice as a result of 
an offer having been made to encourage voluntary termination.

Profit-sharing plans
The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for profit shares 
based on the return on working capital. The Group recognizes a 
provision when there is a legal obligation or an informal obligation 
based on previous practice. 

Recognizing income  
Income comprises the fair value of what has been received or will 
be received. Income is recognized excluding VAT, returns and 
discounts, and after the elimination of internal Group sales. 

The Group recognizes an item of income when its amount includ-
ing attributable expenses can be measured in a reliable way and 
it is probable that future financial benefits will accrue to the com-
pany. It is not considered that the income amount can be measured 
reliably until all obligations in respect of the sale have been fulfilled 
or expired. The Group bases its assessments on historical results 
and in doing so takes account of the type of customer, type of 
transaction and special circumstances in each individual case.

Sale of goods
The Group’s main income originates from the sale of goods in the 
form of petroleum products. Products are sold to oil companies 
operating in Sweden and on the international market, primarily in 
northwestern europe. Sales of gasoline, diesel, heating oils and 
lubricating oils in the Swedish market to private customers, large 
and small companies, are conducted via our own marketing  
channels, Preem Partners and gasoline stations. 

Income from sales of goods is recognized when the Company has 
transferred the significant risks and benefits associated with owner-
ship of the goods to the buyer, which takes place in connection 
with delivery. Once the income for the sale of a product has been 
recognized, the Group no longer has any involvement in the on-
going administration usually associated with ownership, nor does  
it exercise any actual control over the products sold.
 
A large proportion of the Group’s sales of products takes place by 
ship. These sales are often subject to the terms of transport CIF 
(cost insurance freight) and FOB (free on board), which means that 
these income items are normally recognized on the date on which 
the goods are loaded onto the ship, i.e., on the B/l date (bill of lad-
ing). For other sales, the income item is recognized in connection 
with delivery to the customer, for example, Preem Partners or end 
consumers via filling stations operated by the Group. 

Financial income and expenses
Financial income consists of interest income from invested funds 
(including financial assets held for trading), income from dividends, 
gains from the disposal of financial assets held for trading and gains 
from the change in value of financial assets valued at fair value 
via the profit/loss for the year. exchange rate gains and losses on 
financial assets are recognized net as financial income.

Interest income from financial instruments is recognized in accord-
ance with the effective interest method. Income from dividends 
is recognized when entitlement to receive the dividend has been 
confirmed. The profit from the disposal of a financial asset is recog-
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nized when the risks and benefits associated with ownership of the 
instrument have been transferred to the buyer and the Group no 
longer exercises control over the instrument. 

Financial expenses consist of interest rate expenses on loans in-
cluding the proportion of transaction expenses in connection with 
the arrangement of loans that is recognized as expenses during 
the year, the effect of resolving calculations of the current value of 
provisions, losses in the change in value of financial assets valued 
at fair value via the profit/loss for the year and impairment of finan-
cial assets. exchange rate gains and losses on financial liabilities are 
recognized net as financial expenses.

As a general rule, borrowing costs charge the profit/loss for the 
period to which they relate. Borrowing costs that are not directly 
attributable to the purchasing, design or production of an asset, 
and where a significant length of time is needed to produce for 
its intended use or sale, must be included in the cost value of the 
asset. The capitalized interest expenses for the year are SeK 1 (2) 
million and relate primarily to the balance sheet item “Construction 
in progress”. The average interest rate applied is 6.0% (6.0%). 

Leasing
Lessee
leasing in which a significant element of the risks and benefits 
of ownership is retained by the lessor is classified as operating 
leasing. Payments made during the lease term (after deductions 
of any incentives from the lessor) are recognized as expenses on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable expenses are 
recognized as expenses in the periods when they arise. The Group 
only has operating lease agreements. 

Lessor
A lease agreement is an agreement according to which a lessor gives 
a lessee the right to use an asset in return for payment in accord-
ance with agreed terms and for an agreed period. Assets that are 
leased out under an operating lease agreement are recognized as 
an asset in the balance sheet. The lease charge is recognized on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The Group only has 
operating lease agreements.

Dividends
A dividend to the parent company’s stockholders is recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements in the period when the 
dividend was approved by the parent company’s stockholders.

Emission rights
The term covers the period from 2008 up to and including 2012. 
The Group’s two refineries in lysekil and Gothenburg have been 
awarded emission rights, with allocation taking place one year at 
a time, and it is permitted to carry forward outstanding emission 
rights to subsequent years within the five-year period. Any deficit 
must be covered by means of purchasing emission rights on a 
market or by means of energy rationalization measures.

The allocation of emission rights within the five-year period described 
above does not involve any cost to the company and neither al-
location nor consumption has therefore affected the profit/loss for 

the year and the balance sheet. Disposal or acquisition of emission 
rights is recognized in the comprehensive income statement under 
the headings net sales or cost of goods sold. In 2009, 500,000 
emission rights were sold at a value of SeK 144 (0) million. The 
Group has estimated that the number of allocated emission rights 
will be sufficient to cover the period.

Emission rights lysekil Gothenburg
Opening balance 2009 79,273 78,946
Number of rights allocated for 2009 1,849,176 618,252
Number of sold rights in 2009 -500,000 -500,000
Number of swapped rights in 2009 -35,000 -
Deposit rights Dec 31, 2009 1,393,449 197,198
Prelim. number of rights consumed for 
2009 that were cancelled in 2010 -1,758,668 -496,763
Total -365,219 -299,565
Number of rights allocated for 2010 1,849,176 618,252
Prelim. deposit rights March 31, 2010 1,483,957 318,687

Financial assets and liabilities 
Financial assets are classified in the following categories: financial 
assets designated at fair value through the profit/loss for the year, 
loans receivable and trade and other receivables designated at 
accrued cost value, and financial assets held for trading designated 
at fair value via other comprehensive income. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the financial asset was acquired. 
management defines the classification of financial assets when 
they are first recognized. 

Financial liabilities are classified in the following categories: finan-
cial liabilities designated at fair value through the profit/loss for the 
year, and other financial liabilities.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trans-
action date – the date on which the Group commits itself to buy or 
sell the asset. When first recognized, financial assets and liabilities 
are recognized at fair value plus or minus any transaction costs if 
the asset or liability in question is not valued at fair value according 
to the profit/loss for the year. Financial assets are removed from 
the balance sheet when the right to receive cash flows from the 
instrument has expired or been transferred, and the Group has es-
sentially transferred all risks and benefits associated with the right 
of ownership. A financial liability or part of a financial liability is re-
moved from the balance sheet when the obligation in the contract 
has been fulfilled or otherwise cancelled. 

Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair  
value through the profit/loss for the year
Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through 
the profit/loss for the year are financial assets held for trading. A 
financial asset or liability is classified in this category if it is acquired 
primarily with a view to selling it within a short period of time. 
Derivatives are classified as being held for trading if they are not 
identified as hedging instruments. The Group currently holds no 
derivatives that are held as hedging instruments in respect of fair 
value, cash flow or net investment in foreign activities.
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The Group has oil derivatives and interest rate swaps. The Group 
makes use of oil derivatives that are short-term and are classified in 
the balance sheet either as current assets or current liabilities under 
the heading “derivatives” and in the comprehensive income state-
ment under the heading “cost of goods sold”. The Group’s interest 
rate swaps currently have a remaining term of less than one year 
calculated from the balance sheet date and are thus classified as 
current assets or current liabilities under the derivatives heading. 
Interest rate swaps are recognized in the comprehensive income 
statement under the heading “financial expenses.” 

Loan receivables and trade and other receivables
loan receivables and trade and other receivables are financial assets 
that are not derivatives that have payments that are fixed or can be 
fixed, and that are not listed in an active market. These items are 
valued at the accrued cost value. Trade and other receivables are in-
cluded in current assets when there are no items with a maturity date 
more than 12 months after the balance sheet date. loan receivables 
are included in financial non-current assets when the maturity date 
is greater than twelve months. The Group’s non-current loan recei-
vables consist primarily of loans to associates.

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value 
and subsequently at accrued cost value, minus any reserve for 
impairment. A reserve for impairment of trade and other receiva-
bles is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will 
not be able to receive all amounts due according to the original 
terms and conditions of the receivables. Indications that a debtor 
will be declared bankrupt or undergo financial restructuring and 
absent or delayed payments are factors on the basis of which to 
start impairing a trade or other receivable. The size of a reserve 
consists of the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the estimated future cash flows. The asset’s carrying amount 
is reduced by means of an impairment account, and the loss is 
recognized in the other comprehensive income statement depend-
ing on the function to which the trade or other receivable relates. 
When a trade or other receivable cannot be collected, it is written 
off against the impairment account for trade and other receivables. 
Any recovery of an amount that has previously been written off is 
credited to the function to which it relates in the comprehensive 
income statement. 

This category also includes cash and cash equivalents, which 
consist of cash, bank balances and other current investments with 
a maturity date within three months of the acquisition date.

Financial assets held for trading
Financial assets held for trading are assets that are not derivatives 
and where the assets have been identified as being held for trading 
or have not been classified in any of the other categories. They 
are included in non-current assets if management does not intend 
to dispose of the asset within twelve months of the balance sheet 
date. Assets in this category are valued at fair value with changes in 
value for the period in a separate component of shareholders’ equi-
ty, excluding such changes in value due to impairments, interest 
on debt instruments and dividend income and foreign exchange 
differences on monetary items which are reported in profit/loss 
for the year. For the disposal of the asset accumulated profits/los-

ses are recognized which have been previously recognized in the 
comprehensive income statement, in profit/loss for the year.

The fair value of publicly listed securities is based on current bid 
prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for non- 
listed securities), the Group confirms the fair value by applying 
valuation techniques such as the use of information in respect 
of recently completed transactions on an arm’s length basis, 
reference to the fair value of another instrument that is essentially 
identical, analysis of discounted cash flows and option valuation 
models. In this context market information is used to as great an 
extent as possible, while company-specific information is used as 
little as possible. If the Company believes that these methods do 
not produce a reliable value, the assets are valued at the cost value. 
All financial assets held for trading are valued as of the balance 
sheet date at the cost value if a reliable value cannot be calculated.

Other financial liabilities
The category “other financial liabilities” includes borrowing and oth-
er liabilities (trade and other payables and other current liabilities).

Borrowing
Borrowing is initially recognized at fair value, net after transaction 
expenses. Borrowing is subsequently recognized at accrued cost 
value and any difference between amount received (net after 
transaction expenses) and the repayment amount is recognized as 
financial expenses divided over the term of the loan. 

Borrowing is classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer payment of the debt for at least twelve 
months after the balance sheet date. 

Other liabilities
Other liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subse-
quently at accrued cost value.

Impairment of financial assets
On each balance sheet date the Group considers whether there is 
objective evidence that an impairment need exists for a financial 
asset or group of financial assets. With regard to shares that are 
classified as assets held for trading, a significant or extended 
impairment in the fair value of a share to a level below its cost value 
is considered to constitute an indication that there is an impairment 
need. If such evidence exists for financial assets held for trading, 
the accumulated loss – calculated as the difference between the 
cost value and the current fair value minus any previous impair-
ments recognized in the profit/loss for the year – is removed from 
equity and recognized in the profit/loss for the year. Impairments 
of equity instruments, which are recognized in the profit/loss for 
the year, are not reversed via the profit/loss for the year. reserves 
for trade and other receivables are described in note 23.
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Note 2. fiNaNcial riSk maNagemeNt 

The Group is exposed to a number of different financial risks in the 
course of its activities: market risk (which includes currency risk, 
price risk, and interest rate risk in fair value and in cash flow), credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s risk management policies focus 
on the unpredictability of the financial markets and strive to minimize 
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial results.

Risk policy and objectives
The Group’s financial risk management policy aims to reduce vola-
tility in financial results and cash flows while retaining a high level of 
efficiency in business activities.

All activities associated with the management of risks relating to 
financial instruments are handled by the Finance Department within 
Preem, with the exception of oil derivatives, which are handled by 
the Supply and refining business area. management of financial 
risks is regulated by joint Group policies that are defined by the 
Board of Directors. The aim of the Company’s trading in derivatives 
is to make sure that financial risks are kept within limits defined by the 
Board of Directors. The Group does not apply hedge accounting. 

Market risk
Currency risk
The Group operates on an international level and is exposed to cur-
rency risks arising from exposure to various currencies, in particular 
in respect of uSD. Transaction risks within the Group arise from 
future business transactions. Translation risk arises when revaluing 
recognized assets and liabilities. 

Transaction risk
The Group buys and sells oil products in uSD. The refining margin 
is thus expressed in uSD, which represents a currency risk. For 
example, this means that when the SeK becomes weaker against the 
uSD, the currency effect on the refining margin will have a positive 
effect on the operating profit/loss. The Group does not hedge the 
risk associated with individual business transactions. 

An additional risk arises in the Group because purchases of oil 
products take place in uSD, while sales are primarily in uSD and SeK. 
After having taken the refining margin into account, there is a net de-
ficit of uSD in the Group, which is covered by daily purchases of uSD 
against SeK. These purchases are based on a standard template, 
but demand can vary over time because of price changes, timing 
of purchases and sales, and the relationship in sales between uSD 
and SeK. 

Translation risk  
The Group aims to eliminate the translation risk that arises in working 
capital by balancing assets and liabilities in foreign currency. To 
minimize the translation risk in the Group’s working capital in uSD, 
the Group takes out or redeems loans in dollars. There is no defined 
level in respect of the size of loans arranged at any given time. 

The table below explains the Group’s net exposure on the balance 
sheet date in each currency translated into SeK in respect of mone-
tary assets and liabilities in the form of trade and other receivables, 
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables and other loans 

arranged in foreign currency. Working capital includes not only trade 
and other receivables and trade and other payables, but also the 
value of the Group’s inventories. The size of the net exposure for 
the monetary items must therefore be placed in relation to the value 
of inventories in uSD as of the balance sheet date. As inventories 
are a non-monetary asset, currency is not translated at the exchange 
rate on the balance sheet date, but using the exchange rate on the 
purchase date. A change in the exchange rate does not normally 
affect the value of inventories, which means that there is only an 
effect in the profit/loss for the year when the product is sold. If a 
change in the exchange rate were to lead to the net realizable value 
of the inventories in SeK being less than the cost value because of a 
fall in the exchange rate, there would, however, be an impairment of 
inventories and this would have a direct effect on the profit/loss.

All amounts in SEK million

Net exposure as of
balance sheet date 2009 as a % 2008 as a %
eur -13 0% -17 0%
uSD -8,279 100%  -11,087 100%
Others -3 0% 28 0%
Total 8,295 100% -11,076 100%

Net exposure of uSD must be set in relation to the Group’s invento-
ries, which as of December 31, 2009 totaled SeK 8,266 million (5,223).

The Group only has insignificant holdings in foreign activities, 
the net assets of which are exposed to currency risks, and for this 
reason the Group has no currency exposure for this.

If the Swedish krona were to become stronger/weaker by 10% 
in relation to the uS dollar as of the balance sheet date, while all 
other variables remained constant, the profit for the year after tax 
as of December 31 would have been SeK 610 (798) million higher/
lower as a consequence of gains/losses when translating of mone-
tary assets and liabilities.

Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of inventories of crude 
oil and refined products. Price changes in crude oil and refined 
oil products affect the Group’s sales income, cost of goods sold, 
gross profit/loss and operating profit/loss. The Group has a defined 
normal position for inventories, which is the volume of priced oil that 
is required to maximize the contribution from the refining system 
in the most efficient way without making use of derivatives1. The 
normal position is defined as 1,840,000 m3. The price risk at this 
volume is the Company’s commercial risk that the Board of Directors 
has accepted. To counteract the price risk that arises when priced 
inventories deviate from the normal position, the Group trades in oil 
derivatives in the form of futures, options and swaps.
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The Board of Directors has defined risk limits that define the extent 
to which volume exposure may deviate from the normal position, 
as well as the maximum risk expressed in uSD that the Group is 
prepared to accept in the total of these volume deviations from 
the normal position. The volume deviation may be +200,000 m3 
or –250,000 m3. The highest risk expressed in uSD is uSD 5 mil-
lion on the grand total of these deviations. The exposure that first 
reaches the risk limit is the one on which the Company must act. 
There is daily follow-up on this risk exposure. 

In addition to the above price risk management and, following a re-
solution by the Board in 2009, the Group was purchasing put options 
corresponding to 953,924 m3 (6 million barrels) of crude oil to also 
protect itself from price risk on parts of the normal position. The total 
premium amounted to approximately SeK 95 million. 

The table below explains how the position, excluding the put options 
above, would change in SeK million if the price were to increase/
decrease by 10% as of the balance sheet date. How such a change 
would have affected the Company’s financial results is affected by 
whether the effect on financial results arises in the physical position 
or the derivatives position. The reason for this is that inventories 
and derivatives are valued using different accounting policies. Over 
time, however, the price change in the total position will affect the 
Company’s financial results. The total position thus constitutes the 
company’s price risk, but in the meantime accrual accounting effects 
do arise in the profit/loss for the year, because of the different valua-
tion principles for inventories and derivatives, respectively. 

 Price Physical Derivative Total Of which
Year change position  position  position  position
2009 +10%  +747 -69 +678 +674
2009 -10%  -747 +69 -678 -674
2008  +10%  +435 -71 +364 +372
2008 -10%  -435 +71 -364 -372

A change in the value of the derivative position will always have a 
direct effect in the profit/loss for the year, as derivatives are valued 
at market price as of the balance sheet date and the profit/loss is 
recognized via the profit/loss for the year. 

A change in the value of the physical position does in some cases 
have a direct effect on the profit/loss and in other cases the profit/
loss is only affected in subsequent periods. This is because invento-
ries are valued according to the lowest value principle, i.e., the lower 
of cost and the net realizable value. 

In the event of a price rise, the profit/loss is usually only affected 
when a sale is made, i.e., the gains from the sale are recognized in 
the profit/loss for the year only when they have been realized. A 
price rise may, however, have a direct effect in the profit/loss for the 
year in the event that the original net realizable value is less than the 
cost value. This effect may be a maximum of the previously impaired 
value of the inventories. 

In the event of a price fall the profit/loss is normally affected directly, 
which means that an inventory impairment is performed and a 
product cost is recognized in the comprehensive income statement. 

The impairment will, however, only take place at the amount by 
which the changed net realizable value will fall below the inventory’s 
previous carrying amount as of the balance sheet date.

In addition to price risk management of the inventories position, 
the Board of Directors has defined scope for speculative trading in 
oil derivatives. These transactions are limited by the definition of a 
ceiling for a maximum gain or loss for such trading. The Group’s loss 
may not be any higher than uSD 10,000 per transaction and uSD 
50,000 per annum per individual trader. Transactions on which the 
Group makes a joint decision may amount to a maximum of a level 
that falls within the deviation range in normal position management, 
and may involve a maximum loss of up to uSD 500,000 in one 
transaction and uSD 2,500,000 per annum. These transactions must 
first of all always be approved by the head of the Trading depart-
ment. The Group had at the balance sheet date in 2009 and 2008 no 
position regarding the speculative trade in oil derivatives.

Interest rate risk in respect of cash flows and fair values
The Group’s interest rate risk arises through both borrowing and lending. 

loans with a variable interest rate expose the Group to an interest 
rate risk in respect of cash flow. loans with a fixed interest rate ex-
pose the Group to an interest rate risk in respect of fair value. most 
of the Group’s borrowing is at a variable interest rate. The interest 
rate risk in respect of cash flow is balanced to a light extent by 
borrowing at a fixed rate and the use of interest rate swaps. It is the 
Group’s policy to have a fixed-interest period that does not exceed 
12 months. As of December 31, 2009 the remaining fixed-interest 
period totaled approx. 2.4 months. In 2009 the Group’s borrowing 
on variable interest rate terms consisted of SeK and uSD. 

The Group’s interest-bearing assets are in the form of loans to  
associates and to a lesser extent current investments in cash 
and cash equivalents. loans to associates have been issued on 
standard market terms at a fixed interest rate, which means that the 
Group is exposed to fair value risk.

The Group’s outstanding borrowing as of the balance sheet date 
for both non-current and current loans, including bank overdraft, 
arranged with credit institutions totals SeK 13,452 million (15,042). 
The Group’s loan terms, effective interest rates and the maturity 
structure of the loans are described in note 28.

If interest rates for borrowing expressed in SeK during the year had 
been 1.0 per cent higher/lower, with all other variables constant, 
the profit/loss after tax for the fiscal year would have been SeK 93 
million (108) lower/higher, mainly because of the higher/lower 
interest rate costs of borrowing at flexible interest rates.

Credit risk
Credit risks arise through investments in cash and cash equivalents, 
derivatives and credit exposure to the large number of customers 
to which sales are made on credit. In order to limit this exposure, 
there are joint Group credit policies, which means among other 
things that only banks and financial institutions are accepted that 
have been given a credit rating of at least “A” by Standard and Poors 
or by an equivalent independent assessor. As far as the Group’s 
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customers are concerned, a risk assessment is conducted of each 
customer’s creditworthiness in which the customer’s financial posi-
tion is considered, and previous experiences and other factors are 
assessed. Individual risk limits are defined on the basis of internal 
or external credit ratings. The Group has a credit committee that 
handles these matters. The Group also uses securities in the form 
of, for example, letters of Credit, bank guarantees, deposits and 
parent company mortgages. There is regular follow-up on the use 
of credit limits. The credit risk is controlled at Group level.

most of the credit exposure in terms of amounts is towards finan-
cially strong oil companies. On the basis of the Group’s ongoing 
analysis of its customers, the credit quality is considered to be 
good. During the year the Group only had provisions for unsafe 
receivables of SeK 22 million (29), compared with sales revenue of 
SeK 63,814 million (87,375). 

The Group has a loan issued to Corral morocco Gas & Oil AB, 
which is an associate, of SeK 3,136 million. The loan has a standard 
market interest rate of 5% of the nominal loan amount. The interest 
is capitalized and added to the original receivable. On December 
31, 2009 the total receivable was SeK 3,183 million. The loan and 
capitalized interest fall due for payment no later than on February 
6, 2013 unless otherwise agreed prior to this date. 

Counterparties during the year for derivative trading in interest 
rate swaps only took place with banks and financial institutions 
with a credit rating of at least “A” from Standard and Poors or an 
equivalent independent assessor. Other oil companies, banks and 
trading companies are counterparties for trading in oil derivatives. 
In order to limit counterparty risks when trading in oil derivatives, 
the company concludes so-called ISDA contracts.

For further information, see note 23.

Liquidity risk
liquidity risk is handled by means of the Group’s having sufficient cash 
and cash equivalents and current investments with a liquid market and 
available financing through agreed credit facilities. every month the 
Group pays approximately SeK 1,300 million in the form of product 
taxes and VAT, which combined with fluctuations in purchasing and 
sales patterns can make demands on the availability of short-term  
borrowing facilities. 

To make sure that the Group has access to external financing at all times, 
both short-term and long-term credit facilities must always be available. 

The table below analyzes the Group’s financial liabilities and net 
settled derivatives that constitute financial liabilities, broken down 
by the term remaining after the balance sheet date until the contrac-
tual maturity date. The amounts specified in the table are the  
contractual, non-discounted cash flows and do not therefore  
correspond to the amounts in the balance sheet. The amounts that 
fall due within twelve months correspond to the book amounts, as 
the discount effect is insignificant.

It is the Group’s policy that renegotiation of loans must take place 
no later than twelve months before maturity. 

 Within  Between  Between more than 
As of December 31, 2009 1 yr. 1 & 2 yrs. 2 & 5 yrs. 5 yrs.
Borrowing  4,134 9,914 - -
Interest rate swaps 53 - - -
Oil derivatives -9 - - -
Trade and other payables 4,193 - - -
Other current liabilities 1,469 - - -
 Within  Between  Between more than 
As of December 31, 2008 1 yr. 1 & 2 yrs. 2 & 5 yrs. 5 yrs.
Borrowing  3,941 2,332 9,796 -
Interest rate swaps 32 31 31 -
Oil derivatives 153 - - -
Trade and other payables 4,103 - - -
Other current liabilities 1,210 - - -

The Group has syndicated bank loans that are subject to a clause 
on the requirement to satisfy a number of key ratios (known as 
covenants). 

Management of capital risk
The Group’s objective with regard to the capital structure is to secure 
the Group’s access to capital markets and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure in order to keep down the costs of capital and to 
balance the company’s commercial risk with the cost of the capital. 

The Board of Directors constantly monitors the Group’s financial 
position and net debt against expected future profitability and cash 
flow, investment and expansion plans, and developments in the 
interest rate and credit markets. 

The Group’s debt/equity ratio is shown in the table below:

 2009 2008
Total borrowing 13,452 15,041
minus cash and cash equivalents -808 -1,068
Net debt 12,644 13,973
Total equity 4,902 1,838
TOTAL CAPITAL 17,546 15,811
Debt/equity ratio 72% 88%

Calculation of fair value
The fair value of derivatives traded on an active market is based on 
listed market prices on the balance sheet date. The listed market 
price used for the Group’s financial assets is the current bid price. 
The fair value of oil derivatives is defined using listed prices of oil 
futures on the balance sheet date.

The fair value of financial instruments not traded on an active 
market (e.g., OTC derivatives) is defined with the aid of valuation 
techniques. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the 
current value of estimated future cash flows. 

The fair value of borrowing is calculated, for the purposes of 
disclosure, by discounting the future contracted cash flow at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar 
financial instruments.
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Note 3. importaNt eStimateS aNd aSSeSSmeNtS  
for accouNtiNg purpoSeS

estimates and assessments are evaluated on an ongoing basis and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are considered reasonable in the 
prevailing circumstances. 

Important estimates and assumptions for  
accounting purposes
The Group makes estimates and assumptions about the future. 
The estimates for accounting purposes that are the consequence 
of these will, by definition, seldom correspond with the actual 
outcome. 

The carrying amount, after any amortization, of trade and other 
receivables and trade and other payables is considered to cor-
respond to their fair values, as these items are current by nature.
The fair value of financial liabilities is calculated, for the purposes 
of disclosure, by discounting the future contracted cash flow at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar 
financial instruments.

The estimates and assumptions that involve a significant risk of 
major adjustments in recognized values of assets and liabilities for 
subsequent fiscal years are explained in general below.

Impairment testing of goodwill
every year the Group tests whether an impairment need exists for 
goodwill, in accordance with the accounting policy described in 
notes 1 and 17. The recoverable amount of cash generating units 
has been defined by calculating the value in use. These calcula-
tions require certain estimates to be made, see note 17.

If the budgeted margin used when calculating the value in use of 
the cash generating unit that comprises Supply & refining had 
been 20% lower than the management assessment as of Decem-
ber 31, 2009 the Group would not have needed to perform any 
impairment of goodwill.

If the estimated discount rate before tax that was applied for 
discounted cash flows for the cash generating unit that comprises 
Supply & refining had been 2% higher than the management 
assessment, the Group would not have needed to perform any 
impairment of goodwill.

Pensions
Pension obligations are based on actuarial calculations that are 
based on assumptions about discount rate, expected return on 
managed assets, future wage increases, staff turnover, inflation and 
expected average remaining period of service.

The expected return on managed assets is defined by considering 
the expected return on the assets covered by the investment policy 
in question. The expected return on investments with a fixed interest 
rate is based on the return received if these securities are held until 
maturity. The expected return on shares and real estate is based on 
the long-term return that has occurred in the market in question.

Provisions for environmental commitments
Provisions are made for environmental commitments for known 
and planned decontamination works. A possible future closure of 
operations within the Group may involve a requirement for decon-
tamination and restoration works. This is, however, considered to 
be well in the future and it is not believed that any possible future 
expenses for this can be calculated reliably. Such potential environ-
mental commitments are not included in provisions in the balance 
sheet or as contingent liabilities.

Important assessments when applying the Company’s 
accounting policies
Functional currency 
Preem has significant cash flows in uSD, and when assessing the 
company’s functional currency management has evaluated the 
criteria contained in IAS 21 on defining the functional currency. 
Having given careful consideration to all indicators, management 
has made the assessment that Preem’s functional currency is SeK.
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Note 4. SegmeNt reportiNg 

Operating Segments
The Group consists of two operating segments:

Supply & trading – Crude oil is bought for the two refineries Preemraff lysekil and Preemraff Göteborg and  is refined to produce finished 
oil products. Approximately 2/3 of production is exported, mainly to the northern european market. The share of production that is sold 
in Sweden is sold through the Group’s own market channels and through other oil companies.      

Marketing – This segment sells refined oil products, which are bought from the Supply & Trading segment. Sales are channeled directly to 
consumers via the Company’s network of filling stations and to companies and consumers via direct sales. 

Internal pricing
Prices are set at market levels at prices based on official listings in the oil market.  

Allocation of profit, assets and liabilities
The segments’ profit/loss, assets and liabilities include directly attributable items and items that can be divided among segments in a reasonable 
and reliable way. Financial items and tax assets/liabilities are not broken down by segment. Profit items that are not allocated consist primarily of 
exchange rate differences from trade with foreign counterparties and shared Group expenses. The segments’ investments in property, plant and 
machinery and intangible assets include all investments apart from investments in expendable equipment and equipment of little value.  

13,702
-80

13,623

-
13,623

Marketing
213

92

Marketing
6,054
1,801

16,140
-98

16,042

-
16,042

Marketing
-6
93

Marketing
5,109
2,230

61,870
-11,659
50,212

-
50,212

Supply & trading
4,847

887

Supply & trading
16,737

5,179

85,336
-14,485
70,851

-
70,851

Supply & trading
-672
881

Supply & trading
15,110

4,917

Segments’ total sales revenues
Sales between segments
External sales revenues

exchange rate differences
Total external sales income 

OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS
Operating profit/loss per segment
of which amortization

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES PER SEGMENT
Assets 
liabilities

Segments’ total sales revenues
Sales between segments
External sales revenues

exchange rate differences
Total external sales income 

OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS
Operating profit/loss per segment
of which amortization

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES PER SEGMENT
Assets 
liabilities

Marketing

Marketing

Supply & trading

Supply & trading

SALES REVENuES

SALES REVENuES

2009

2008

Total per 
segment

Total per 
segment

75,573
-11,738
63,834

-21
63,813

Total per 
segment

5,060
979

Total per 
segment

22,790
6,980

101,476
-14,583
86,893

482
87,375

Total per 
segment

-678
974

Total per 
segment

20,219
7,147
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5,060
26

-524
-5

-297
4,260

178
-862
404

-152
3,828

22,790
3,183

808
46

26,827

6,980
71

1,346
102

13,194
233

21,925

63,693
121

63,813

4
8

117
125

520
593

Operating profit/loss for reported segments
exchange rate differences on continuous payments
Currency effect on normal inventories
Non-allocated amortization 
Other
TOTAL OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS
Interest income 
Interest expense
exchange differences
Other financial net
PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAX

Assets for reported segments
receivables from affiliates 
Cash and cash equivalents
Other
TOTAL ASSETS

Liabilities for reported segments 
Pension obligations
Deferred tax liability
Other provisions
Borrowing
Other
TOTAL LIABILITIES 

Sales of oil products
Other
Total external sales income 

Investments in property, plant and machinery 2009
Investments in property, plant and machinery 2008

RECONCILIATION wITH THE GROuP’S OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

RECONCILIATION wITH THE GROuP’S TOTAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

2009

2009

2009

OtherMarketingSupply & trading

2008

2008

2008

Group

-678
-1,359
1,241

-4
-237

-1,037
214

-1,020
-1,064

-243
-3,150

20,219
3,136
1,068

111
24,534

7,147
100
588
115

14,643
104

22,697

87,298
77

87,375

641
726

Other information concerning sales
Sales revenues come for the most part from sales of oil products.  

Income of SeK 7,843 million for 2009 originates from one single customer and the income is included in the Supply & Trading segment.

INVESTMENTS 
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2.5
1.3

0.2
0.0

596.6

5.4

602.0

320.3
(96.0)

2.3
(0.6)

322.6
(96.6)

646.1

5.5

651.6

27,483
-

39,758
-

11,157
-

15,821
-

25,173
9,919

31,796
10,287

KPMG
Audit assignments
Other assignments

SET
Audit assignments
Other assignments

Parent company

Group companies

Group total

2009
external sales 
Property, plant and machinery and intangible assets 

2008
external sales 
Property, plant and machinery and intangible assets 

2009

wages and other 
remuneration

wages and other 
remuneration

Social costs 
(of which pension exp)

Other 
countries

Other 
ScandinaviaSweden

2008

Social costs 
(of which pension exp)

Group

3.1
1.6

0.2
0.0

320.5
(95.8)

2.2
(0.4)

322.7
(96.2)

63,813
9,919

87,375
10,287

Distribution by geographical regions    
The information presented in respect of income relates to the geographical regions grouped according to where customers are 
located. Information about the segments’ assets and the period’s investments in non-current assets is based on geographical regions 
grouped according to where the assets are located. ”rest of Nordic region” in the table below refers primarily to Denmark and  
Norway, and ”Other countries” primarily to Germany, France, the uK, Holland and North America.
    

excise duties refer to energy tax, gasoline tax, carbon dioxide tax, sulfur tax and alcohol tax. 
This note also refers to the parent company.  

Purchases and sales of oil products in the market are essentially dollar-based. exchange rate differences from sales are recognized under 
”net sales” and exchange rate differences from purchases are recognized under ”cost of goods sold.” The Group’s gross profit includes 
exchange rate differences from purchases and sales of oil products at a net value of SeK 26 million (-1,360).  
This note also refers to the parent company.

*   Of the Group’s pension costs, SeK 1.5 million (1.4) relates to the Group’s Board and CeO.   
** Of the Group’s pension costs, SeK 1.5 million (1.7) relates to the Group’s Board and the CeO.

SALES BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION

Note 5. exciSe dutieS

Note 6. groSS profit

Note 7. feeS to auditorS

Note 8. WageS aNd Social coStS

20082009

*

**

*

**
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Note 9. WageS aNd other beNefitS, allocated by regioN aNd betWeeN 
board/ceo aNd other employeeS    

6.4
(0.0)

0.1
(0.0)

-
0.1
6.5

(0.0)

-
-
-
-
-

639.7

4.8

-
4.8

644.5

-
-

1.5
3.2
4.6

6.4
(0.0)

0.7
(0.0)

-
0.7
7.1

(0.0)

-
-

0.1
0.5
0.5

-
-

0.6
0.5
1.0

0.5
2.7
2.7
7.4

13.3

Parent company

Group companies in Sweden

Group companies abroad
Total in Group companies
Group total

Chairman of the Board
Other Board members 
Chief executive Officer
Other senior executives (7 people)

Board and CEO
(of which bonus)

Other 
remuneration

Board and CEO
(of which bonus)

Other 
benefits

Flexible 
benefits

Basic salary/
Directors’ fees

Other
employees

Total

Other
employees

Pension
expenses

590.3

5.3

-
5.3

595.6

0.5
2.7
4.8

11.5
19.4

20082009

Senior executives    
Senior executives means both senior management and other senior executives. The group comprising senior management includes the 
Chairman of the Board, other Board members who receive benefits from the company in addition to the current Board fee and who are 
not employed by the company, and the Chief executive Officer and President. The group comprising other senior executives includes 7 
(6) salaried employees who are part of the parent company’s Group management together with the CeO; all are employed by the parent 
company.      
     
Preparation and decision-making process when determining benefits for senior executives   
The terms of remuneration for the CeO and the principles for salary benefits for people in the company’s Group management team are 
prepared in a remuneration committee appointed by the Board and consisting of the Deputy Chairman of the Board and 3 other Board 
members. The committee’s proposals are confirmed by the Board. The annual salary review for both the CeO and for other members of 
Group management is confirmed by the remuneration committee.      
    
Benefits for senior executives    
Fees are paid to the Chairman of the Board and members in accordance with the decision of the AGm. No special fee is paid for  
committee work.      
 
Benefits to the CeO and other senior executives consist of basic salary, flexible benefits, other benefits and pension.    

The breakdown between basic salary and flexible remuneration must be in proportion to the senior executive’s responsibility and authority. 
For the CeO, the flexible benefit may be a maximum of 30% of basic salary. For other senior executives, the flexible benefit is a defined 
maximum percentage of basic salary. The CeO and certain senior executives are entitled to receive flexible benefits in the form of a defined 
contribution pension policy. In these cases the company also contributes by agreement an additional amount corresponding to the flexible 
benefit multiplied by 1.15. The remuneration committee does, however, define the terms of the flexible benefit on an annual basis.  
    
Pension benefits and other benefits to the CeO and other senior executives are paid as an element of the overall benefit package. Other 
benefits consist primarily of a company car.  

In total, SeK 2.1 million has been paid in directors’ fees, of which two members received SeK 0.25 million, seven members received SeK 
0.2 million and one received SeK 0.17 million.      
     

REMuNERATION AND BENEFITS IN 2009
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68
680
145

91
984

888
91

5
984

-
-
-
-

0.0

-
-

1.4
2.9
4.3

-
-

0.1
0.5
0.6

-
-

1.1
0.9
2.0

0.5
2.2
2.6
7.4

12.7

Chairman of the Board
Other Board members 
Chief executive Officer
Other senior executives (6 people)

Other 
remuneration

Other 
benefits

Flexible 
benefits

Basic salary/
Directors’ fees Total

Pension
expenses

0.5
2.2
5.2

11.7
19.6

In total, SeK 2.1 million has been paid in directors’ fees, of which two members received SeK 0.25 million, eight members received SeK 0.2 million. 
    
Pensions     
The Chief executive Officer is entitled to retire on his own initiative and has an obligation to retire at the age of 60 on the company’s 
initiative. The pension is a defined contribution pension. Pension premiums comprise 45% of qualifying salary in respect of retirement and 
survivor’s pension. ”qualifying salary” means the basic salary plus an average of the last three years’ flexible benefit. For other senior ex-
ecutives there is a general pension plan and, in certain cases, individual solutions. All pension benefits are protected, i.e., not conditional 
upon future employment.       

Severance pay       
There is a mutual period of notice between the company and the Chief executive Officer of 24 months and 6 months, respectively, up to 
60 years. In the event of termination by the Company, paid notice of a maximum of 24 months applies. In the event of termination by the 
CeO, the corresponding condition is six months’ salary. The severance pay is offset against other income from new employment during 
the period of notice. If notice is served by either party after the age of 60, there is no compensation benefit.    
   
There is a mutual period of notice between the Company and other senior executives of a maximum of 24 months and 6 months, respectively. 
In connection with termination by the Company, paid notice of a maximum of 24 months applies. In the event of termination by the senior 
executive, no severance pay is paid. Severance pay is offset against other income from new employment during the period of notice.  
     
    

REMuNERATION AND BENEFITS IN 2008

Note 10. depreciatioN

Buildings and land installations
Plant and machinery
Audit inspection
equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings
Total

ALLOCATION BY FuNCTION

Cost of goods sold
Selling expenses
Administrative expenses

ALLOCATION OF DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIzATION
2009

2009

2008

2008

67
675
140

96
978

882
92

4
978
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Note 11. leaSiNg

Note 12. expeNSeS brokeN doWN by type of expeNSe    

Note 13. other operatiNg iNcome 

83
27

109

92
376

64

48
43
91

48
242

49

56,112
974
984

1,926
59,996

58,880
685
432

59,996

68
91
53

167
23
41

443

minimum lease charges
Variable charges
Total leasing expenses

Agreed future minimum lease charges
Within one year 
Between one and five years
longer than five years

minimum lease charges
Variable charges
Total leasing income

Agreed future minimum lease charges
Within one year 
Between one and five years
longer than five years

Product cost 
Costs of employee benefits 
Depreciation 
Other expenses 
 
Reconciliation with other comprehensive income statement 
Cost of goods sold 
Selling expenses 
Administrative expenses 

Heating deliveries
rental income 
Harbor income
Storage certificates
Service compensation
Other
Total

LEASING CHARGES IN RESPECT OF OPERATIONAL LEASING

LEASING INCOME IN RESPECT OF OPERATIONAL LEASING

2009

2009

2009

2009

2008

2008

2008

2008

113
12

125

101
376

57

82
-

82

82
412

82

85,239
925
978

1,837
88,979

87,992
605
382

88,979

88
86
50

225
30
88

567
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Note 14. profit/loSS from fiNaNcial iNStrumeNtS   

Note 15. tax

178
-91
87

41
-105
-64

-5

-841
-58
495
-47

-519

-259
-259

-757
-1,016

2009
3,828

-1,007
-3
0

-8
2
-

-1,016

255
-

Interest income from instruments valued at accrued cost value 
Net exchange rate differences 
Finance income 
 
Net loss 
- Instruments valued at fair value 
- Financial liabilities valued at accrued cost value 
Total net loss 
 
Interest expense from defined benefit unfunded pension obligation 
Interest expense from instruments valued at 
accrued cost value1 
Interest expense from instruments valued at fair value 
Net exchange rate change 
Other 
Finance expenses 

Current tax expense(-)/ tax income(+)
Tax expense for the period

Deferred tax expense(-)/ tax income(+)
Deferred tax in respect of temporary differences
Total recognized tax expense

Reconciliation of effective tax
Profit/loss before tax
Income tax calculated according to national tax rates for profit/loss in each country 
Other non-deductible expenses
Non-taxable income
Tax attributable to previous years
effect of different tax rates for foreign companies
effect of future change in income tax
Recorded tax

Tax items recognized directly in equity
Current tax in Group contributions paid
Deferred tax in Group contributions paid

2009

2009

2008

2008

214
41

255

-65
-233
-298

-7

-931
-17

-1,105
-10

-2,368

-13
-13

951
938

2008
-3,150

882
-5
2

15
3

42
938

-
61

1) Of which interest rate expenses from accrued loan expenses, SeK 147 million (100).     
    
The net loss on oil derivatives (excluding the sales options equivalent to 6 million barrels of crude oil; see the price risk in note 1) valued 
at fair value, recognized as cost of goods sold in the profit/loss for the year, totals SeK 363 million (336). The net loss on oil derivatives 
(excluding the sales options equivalent to 6 million barrels of crude oil), valued at fair value, recognized as cost of goods sold in the profit/
loss for the year, totals SeK 95 million.      

Weighted average tax rate is 26.5% (-29.8%).
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8
-

14

7
-

880
25

12-31-2009
land and buildings
machinery and equipment
Other
Net asset/liability

12-31-2008
land and buildings
machinery and equipment
loss carryforwards
Other
Net asset/liability

land and buildings
machinery and equipment
Other
Total temporary differences
loss carryforwards
Total

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND TAX LIABILITIES

CHANGE IN DEFERRED TAX IN TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES AND LOSS CARRYFORwARDS

NET EXCHANGE RATE DIFFERENCES HAVE BEEN RECOGNIzED IN THE PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR AS FOLLOwS 

GOODwILL

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

Amount at
end of year

        Other
changes

Recognized in
prof/loss for year

Amount at
start of year

-2
-1,346

-21
-1,346

-3
-1,485

-
-12

-588

6
-1,346

-6
-1,346

-
-1,346

-
-
-
-
-
-

2
139
-19

122
-879
-757

4
-1,485

13
-1,468

879
-588

Note 16. exchaNge rate differeNceS iN the profit/loSS for the year

Note 17. iNtaNgible aSSetS 

-21
47

404
430

308
308

308

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Financial items
Total

Opening cost value
Closing accumulated cost value

Carrying amount at end of period

2009

2009

2008

2008

482
-1,843
-1,064

-2,425

308
308

308

Impairment testing of goodwill    
Identified goodwill is attributable in full to the Group’s cash generating unit (CGu) Supply & Trading and Sweden. A summary at segment 
level is provided below.    
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LAND AND BuILDINGS

Note 18. property, plaNt aNd equipmeNt  

2,117
1

-44
60

2,134

1,103
-31
68

1,140

994

Opening cost value
Investments during the year
Sales/Disposals
Completion of constructions in progress
Closing accumulated cost value

Opening amortization
Sales/Disposals
Amortization for the year
Closing accumulated amortization

CARRYING AMOuNT

2009 2008

2,008
2

-13
120

2,117

1,044
-8
67

1,103

1,014

308
308

308
308

Sweden
TOTAL

Supply & tradingSupply & trading TotalTotal

308
308

308
308

20082009

The recoverable amount of a CGu is defined on the basis of calculations of value in use. These calculations are based on estimated future 
cash flows before tax based on financial budgets that have been approved by company management and covering a 5-year period. Cash 
flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using an estimated rate of growth as explained below. The rate of growth does not 
exceed the long-term rate of growth for the market in which the Supply & Trading segment operates.     
 
Significant assumptions used to calculate values of use.      
       
 Supply & trading   
Average refining margin in dollars a barrel for the period 4.46-5.64 
Average rate of growth for extrapolation beyond the budget period 1%   
Discount rate before tax 8%   
 
management has confirmed the budgeted refining margin based on previous results and its expectations of market growth. The weighted 
average rate of growth used does not exceed the forecasts contained in industry reports. The discount rates that are used are specified 
before tax and reflect specific risks that apply for the various segments.     
     
No impairment need has been identified for goodwill. This is true even if a change in the conditions is amended as follows: refining  
margin 20% lower, rate of growth -1% and a discount rate 2% higher for each segment.     
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PLANT AND MACHINERY1

AuDIT INSPECTION

EQuIPMENT, TOOLS, FIXTuRES AND FITTINGS

15,499
8

-16
262

15,752

8,196
-13
680

8,862

6,890

721
10

731

242
145
387

344

1,366
-

-72
54

1,348

887
-62
91

916

433

Opening cost value
Investments during the year
Sales/Disposals
Completion of constructions in progress
Closing accumulated cost value

Opening amortization
Sales/Disposals
Amortization for the year 
Closing accumulated amortization

CARRYING AMOuNT

Opening cost value
Investments during the year
Closing accumulated cost value

Opening amortization
Amortization for the year
Closing accumulated amortization

CARRYING AMOuNT

Opening cost value
Investments during the year
Sales/Disposals
Completion of constructions in progress
Closing accumulated cost value

Opening amortization
Sales/Disposals
Amortization for the year
Closing accumulated amortization

CARRYING AMOuNT

2009

2009

2009

2008

2008

2008

15,150
27

-14
336

15,499

7,534
-13
675

8,196

7,303

717
4

721

102
140
242

479

1,341
2

-53
76

1,366

838
-47
96

887

479

1) Planned residual value includes platinum and palladium at SeK 138 million (137).
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CONSTRuCTIONS IN PROGRESS

TAX ASSESSMENT VALuES

704
623

0
-377
951

554
648

3,318
4,520

Opening cost value 
Investments during the year
Sales/Disposals
Completion of constructions in progress
CARRYING AMOuNT2

Buildings
land
Plant and machinery

AB Djurgårdsberg      
Göteborgs Smörjmedelsfabrik, Scanlube AB  
TOTAL 

AB Djurgårdsberg      
Göteborgs Smörjmedelsfabrik, Scanlube AB  

AB Djurgårdsberg      
Göteborgs Smörjmedelsfabrik, Scanlube AB  

Opening balance
Profit participation
Closing balance

2009

2009

2008

2008

Revenue 

Revenue 

12-31-200812-31-2009

Equity

Equity

Liabilities

Liabilities

Assets

Assets

546
691

-1
-532
704

1,022
472

3,304
4,798

4
410

4
447

5
0
5

5
0
5

0
10

0
10

2
142

1
191

2
152

1
201

2) Includes planning costs of SeK 311 million (272).

The information above is 100% of the companies’ assets, liabilities, equity and income.

This note also refers to the Parent Company.

Note 19. participatioNS iN aSSociateS  

37
50

366
50,000

Stockholm
Gothenburg

556077-3714
556287-6481

12-31-2009

12-31-2008

Participating 
interest %

No. of 
shares

Registered
 officeCorp ID no.

Recognized
value in
1000’s

18
5,000

5,018

SwEDISH COMPANIES
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Note 20. receivableS from affiliateS   

Note 21. fiNaNcial aSSetS held for tradiNg   

Note 22. iNveNtorieS

Opening value
Capitalized interest for the year
Closing value

raw material
Finished goods
Total

Opening carrying amount
Investment during the year
Stockholder contributions
Sales
Carrying amount at end of period

12-31-2008

12-31-2008

2008

12-31-2009

12-31-2009

2009

3 ,136
-

3,136

2,260
2,963

5,223

2,748
49,999

2,600
-

55,347

3,136
47

3,183

3,511
4,755

8,266

55,347
-

800
-198

55,949

receivable from affiliates relates to an interest-bearing receivable from the affiliate company Corral morocco Gas & Oil AB (CmGO). The 
receivable totals SeK 3,183 million (3,136) and is subject to a market-based fixed interest rate of 5% of the original receivable of SeK 3,136 
million. No security has been pledged for the Group’s receivable in relation to CmGO. Interest income for 2009 of SeK 157 million has 
been cleared from liabilities by SeK 110 million (157) and increased the non-current receivable by SeK 47 million (-).

The cost value of inventories in the Group includes the equivalent of SeK 18 million (SeK 139 million) in volumes of inventories out on 
loan. Volumes of inventories borrowed corresponding to a total inventory value of SeK 25 million (SeK 411 million) are not included in the 
value of inventories.      

SPImFAB - SPI miljösaneringsfond AB
Släckmedelscentralen - SmC AB
Basel i Sverige AB
VindIn AB 
Sun Pine AB
Götene e.D.F. elföreningen, ek förening
SSH Svensk Servicehandel
Bostadsrättsföreningen ekerum
Bostadsrättsföreningen Solhyllan
TOTAL 

1
26

5
7

19.9

1
115

50
100

4,495

Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm

Piteå

556539-4888
556488-8583
556672-5858
556713-5172
556682-9122

Participating 
interest %

No. of 
shares

Registered
 officeCorp ID no.

Recognized
value in
1000’s

2
52

405
4,110

49,999
10

1
945
425

55,949

COMPANY

This note also refers to the parent company.

This note also refers to the parent company.
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Note 23. trade aNd other receivableS   

Note 24. caSh aNd caSh equivaleNtS  

Trade and other receivables 
reserve for unsafe receivables
Total

less than 10 days
Between 10 and 20 days
Between 21 and 30 days
more than 30 days
Total

Current investments
Cash and bank balances

At the beginning of the period
This year’s reserve for doubtful receivables/reversed unutilized amounts
Confirmed losses during the year
At the end of the period

Fair value of trade and other receivables

12-31-2008

12-31-2008

12-31-2008

12-31-2008

12-31-2008

12-31-2009

12-31-2009

12-31-2009

12-31-2009

12-31-2009

3,356
-29

3,327

202
18
32
28

280

666
402

1,068

32
19

-22
29

3,327

3,696
-22

3,674

148
11

7
17

183

539
269
808

29
6

-13
22

3,674

As a rule there is not considered to be any impairment need for trade and other receivables that have been due for payment for less 
than three months. As of December 31, 2009  trade and other receivables totaling SeK 183 million (280) were due without any need for 
impairment being considered to exist. These relate to a number of independent customers that have not previously had any payment 
problems. The age analysis of these trade and other receivables is shown below:     

The reserve for doubtful trade and other receivables totaled SeK 22 million (29) on December 31, 2009. receivables are recognized as 
doubtful receivables when objective information exists, e.g., in the form of cancelled payments or receivables not being settled after 
being due for 3 months.      
     
receivables in the reserve for doubtful trade and other receivables are as follows:

Provisions for and reversals of reserves for doubtful trade and other receivables are included in the functions to which they relate in the 
other comprehensive income statement. Amounts recognized in the impairment account are usually written off when the Group is not 
expected to recover any additional cash or cash equivalents.      

Other categories within trade and other receivables and other receivables do not include any assets for which an impairment need exists. 

The maximum exposure for credit risk on the balance sheet date is the fair value for each category of receivables mentioned above.   
    

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet and the cash flow statement include  
the following with a maturity date less then three months after acquisition.     

As of December 31, 2009 SeK 0 million (38) of the cash and cash equivalents were blocked from use.
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Note 25. equity

Note 26. peNSioN obligatioNS 

Share capital     
The Company’s share capital totals SeK 610,258,000. The number of shares is 610,258, all of which are class A shares. The shares are 
paid in full and the number of shares is the same at both the beginning and end of the year. The quota value is SeK 1,000/share.  
   
Retained earnings     
retained earnings includes other comprehensive income from the Group’s operations.     
     
Dividend     
No dividend was paid for either 2009 or 2008. The Group’s loan conditions prevent the payment of dividends to stockholders.  
   

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AND THE VALuE OF PLAN ASSETS 

PENSION EXPENSE

687
-721

-34

124
91

-20
71

71

71

-
31

-43
-

-12

wholly or partly funded obligations:  
Current value of defined benefit obligations  
Fair value of plan assets  
Net wholly or partly funded obligations  

unfunded obligations:  
Current value of unfunded defined benefit obligations  
NET OBLIGATIONS, TOTAL, BEFORE ADjuSTMENTS  
  
Adjustments:  
Accumulated unrecognized actuarial losses   
NET AMOuNT IN BALANCE SHEET (OBLIGATION+, ASSET-)  
  
The net amount is recognized in the following items in the balance sheet: 
Pension obligations  
  
The net amount is divided among the following countries:  
Sweden  

The amounts recognized in other comprehensive income statement are as follows:  
Defined benefit plans  
reduction  
Interest expense  
expected return on plan assets  
Actuarial losses  
Total cost of defined benefit plans  

2009 2008

703
-659

44

129
173

-73
100

100

100

-97
32

-44
86

-23
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The actual return on plan assets totaled SeK 77 million (-25). 

THE CHANGE IN THE DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION DuRING THE YEAR IS AS FOLLOwS:

ACTuARIAL ASSuMPTIONS

ACCuMuLATED uNRECOGNIzED ACTuARIAL GAINS OR LOSSES

THE CHANGE IN THE FAIR VALuE OF PLAN ASSETS DuRING 
THE YEAR IS AS FOLLOwS: 

832
-32

-
31

-20
812

3.92%
4.25%

Not applicable
Not applicable

2.0%
Not applicable

64%
30%

6%
100%

659
-22

8
43
34

721

-73
-

20
-

34
-20

-20
83

0

Not applicable

Opening gross amount in balance sheet
Payment of benefits
reduction
Interest expense
Actuarial gains (-) and losses (+)
CLOSING GROSS AMOuNT IN BALANCE SHEET

Discount rate
expected return on plan assets
Future salary increases
Staff turnover
Inflation
expected average remaining period of service

Plan assets consist of the following:
Interest-bearing securities
Shares
real estate
Total

Opening gross amount in balance sheet
Payments of benefits
Payments of contributions from the company
expected return
Actuarial gains (+) and losses (-)
CLOSING GROSS AMOuNT IN BALANCE SHEET

Opening accumulated unrecognized losses
Actuarial loss recognized in the profit/loss for the year
Actuarial gain (+) and loss (-) for the year on the obligation
reduction
Actuarial gain (+) loss (-) for the year on the plan assets
CLOSING ACCuMuLATED LOSSES

Closing accumulated unrecognized losses
10% corridor’s limits (of obligations’ current values)
Surplus (which is recognized as an expense in line with average remaining period of service)

expected average remaining period of service

2009

2009

2008

2008

865
-31

-129
32
95

832

3.75%
6.5%

Not applicable
Not applicable

2.0%
Not applicable

71%
18%
11%

100%

677
-22
28
44

-68
659

-27
86

-96
32

-68
-73

-73
87

0

Not applicable
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The expected return on plan assets is defined by considering the expected return on the assets that are covered by the investment policy 
in question. The expected return on investments with a fixed interest rate is based on the return received if these securities are held until 
maturity. The expected return on shares and real estate is based on the long-term return that has occurred in the market in question.

Contributions for defined benefit plans are estimated at SeK 0 million in 2009, as the transition to Alecta took place on January 1, 2008 
and the former plan was paid-up.      

1) The parent company has paid an insurance premium via its subsidiary Preem Insurance Co ltd of SeK 148 million for known and  
planned remediation works. In 2009 SeK 13 million (26) of the reserved amount has been used and SeK 102 million (115) remain. 

812
721

91
-1
34

7,965
5,488

-3,735
9,718

-258
9,460

Current value of defined benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 
Deficit/(surplus) 
experience-based adjustments of defined benefit obligations 
experience-based adjustments of plan assets 

loans in SeK
loans in uSD 
minus repayment within 1 year
Total long-term loans 
Transaction expenses 
NET LONG-TERM BORROwING

Opening balance 2008
Provisions during the year
Amount used 
unutilized amounts that have been reversed
Closing balance 2008

Provisions during the year
Amount used 
unutilized amounts that have been reversed
Closing balance 2009

2009

2009

2008

2008

Total

Total2014-201320122011

OtherEnvironmental restoration1

832
659
173

-7
-69

8,943
6,076

-3,788
11,231

-399
10,832

155
1

-33
-7

116

-
-14

-
102

9,718---9,718

7
1

-7
-

1

-
-1

-
-

148
-

-26
-7

115

-
-13

-
102

Note 27. other proviSioNS 

Note 28. borroWiNg

REPAYMENT PLAN
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190
190

0

1,424
1,424

1,614

The above table includes the effect of interest rate swaps concluded in which flexible interest rate has been changed to fixed interest rate 
at a nominal amount of SeK 1,443 million. The remaining average fixed-interest period as of December 31, 2009 was approx. 2.4 months 
Of the above total loan amount of SeK 13,452 million, there are contracts with interest rate caps at a nominal value of SeK 938 million, 
which means that a maximum of 4.5% in interest expenses is paid on the nominal value. The actual interest rate is currently below the 
contracted interest rate cap.      
   
Compliance with special loan conditions    
Borrowing totaling SeK 13,453 million in both SeK and uSD comprises a syndicated loan and is subject to a clause on a requirement to 
comply as of December 31, 2009 concerning:    
     

This note also refers to the Parent Company.

Non-current liabilities, credit institutions
- uSD, flexible interest rate
- SeK, flexible interest rate
Current liabilities, credit institutions
- uSD, flexible interest rate
- SeK, flexible interest rate
Total loans excl. bank overdraft
Transaction expenses
Total borrowing incl. transaction expenses

equity, minimum level
Adjusted net debt in relation to equity

Authorized credit limit
unutilized element
utilized credit

Other unutilized credit 
medium-term credit limit 
Total

TOTAL uNuTILIzED CREDIT

2009 2008

1-5 years

MetResultRequirement

Less than 1 year
Effective

interest rate
Nominal value
local currency

632
609

23

386
386

995

4,780
4,938

-
-

9,718
-258

9,460

Yes
Yes

4,902
1.48

At least 3,250
Not exceeding 2.50

-
-

707
3,028

3,735

3.39
3.18

3.8
3.92

663
4,938

98
3,028

Note 29. baNk overdraft, etc. 

LOAN CONDITIONS, EFFECTIVE INTEREST RATE AND MATuRITY STRuCTuRE

mATurITY STruCTure (IN SeK mIllIONS)

CONDITION:
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Note 30. derivativeS

Note 31. other liabilitieS

Note 32. accrued expeNSeS aNd prepaid iNcome    

-
478

478

- 

478

-
54

54

- 

54

Interest rate swaps 
Oil derivatives

TOTAL
Of which long-term element:
Interest rate swaps 

SHORT-TERM ELEMENT

AssetsAssets LiabilitiesLiabilities

94
631

725

94 

631

53
45

97

- 

97

20082009

Derivatives held for trading are classified as current assets or current liabilities. The full fair value of a derivative is classified as a current  
asset or non-current liability if the item’s outstanding term is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or current liability if the item’s 
outstanding term is less than 12 months.      
      
The maximum exposure to credit risk as of the balance sheet date is the fair value of the derivatives recognized as assets in the 
balance sheet.      
      
Interest rate swaps      
The nominal amount for outstanding interest swap contracts on December 31, 2009 totaled SeK 2,381 million (3,427). Gains and losses 
on interest rate swaps are recognized in the profit/loss for the year on an ongoing basis.      

Oil derivatives      
These oil derivative contracts are held primarily to hedge price changes in petroleum products. The nominal amount for all oil derivative 
contracts (excluding the sales options equivalent to 6 million barrels of crude oil; see the price risk in note 1), was net sold of SeK 656 
million (150). The total nominal amount for the equivalent oil derivative contracts is SeK 6,971 million (6,479) million as at December 31 
2009. The nominal value of purchased sales options equivalent to 6 million barrels of crude oil was net sold of SeK 2,381 million. 

1) excise duties refer to energy tax, gasoline tax, carbon dioxide tax, sulfur tax and alcohol tax.  

467
862
140

1,469

1,075
214

10
126

1,425

Value Added Tax
excise duties1

Other liabilities

Purchases of crude oil and products
Personnel
Interest
Other

2009

2009

2008

2008

427
678
105

1,210

263
191
168
180
802
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Note 33. pledged aSSetS aNd coNtiNgeNt liabilitieS    

Note 34. SupplemeNtary iNformatioN for the caSh floW StatemeNt

Pledging of inventories and accounts receivable relating to security in connection with the compliance of the obligation of the Group’s 
syndicated bank loans.     
     
The deposits relate primarily to guarantees issued in connection with trade in oil derivatives. These amounts fall due for payment if the 
Group does not meet its commitments.     

A future closure of operations within the Group may involve a requirement for decontamination and restoration works. This is, however, 
considered to be well into the future and the future expense cannot be calculated reliably.

4,087
2,916

52
7,055

53
2

55

21
-749

984
-1,098

-296
-156
147

-157
-23

4
-11

-606

Pledged assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Deposits

Contingent liabilities
Sureties in favor of associates
Guarantees FPG/PrI

Interest paid and dividend received 
Interest received 
Interest paid 
 
Adjustment for items not included in cash flow, etc. 
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of non-current assets 
reversed impairment of inventories/Impairment of inventories 
unrealized exchange rate losses+/exchange rate gains- 
unrealized loss+/gain- on oil and interest rate swaps 
element of capitalized borrowing costs recognized as expenses 
Cash interest not received 
Provisions 
Capital gain from the sale or disposal of non-current assets 
Other 

2009

2009

2008

2008

2,646
2,775

340
5,761

53
3

56

79
-834

978
1,098

733
218
333

-157
-69

1
-30

3,104
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Note 35. fiNaNcial iNStrumeNtS  

Assets in balance sheet
Financial assets held for trading
Derivatives 
lending to affiliates
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Assets in balance sheet
Financial assets held for trading
Derivatives 
lending to affiliates
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Liabilities in balance sheet
Borrowing
Derivatives 
Other liabilities
Total

Liabilities in balance sheet
Borrowing
Derivatives 
Other liabilities
Total

56
54

3,183
4,291

808
8,392

55
478

3,136
4,022
1,068

8,759

13,194
97

5,694
18,986

14,642
725

5,498
20,865

56
-
-
-
-

56

55
-
-
-
-

55

13,194
-

5,694
18,888

14,642
-

5,498
20,140

-
54

-
-
-

54

-
478

-
-
-

478

-
97

-
97

-
725

-
725

-
-

3,183
4,291

808
8,282

-
-

3,136
4,022
1,068

8,226

Recognized 
value

Recognized 
value

Recognized 
value

Recognized 
value

Available 
for sale

Available 
for sale

Other 
financial

 liabilities

Other financial 
liabilities

Assets valued at  
fair value via profit/

loss for year

Assets valued at 
fair value via profit/

loss for year

Liabilities valued at 
fair value via profit/

loss for year

Liabilities valued at 
fair value via profit/

loss for year

Loans and  
accounts receivable 

Loans and accounts 
receivable 

Fair 
value 

Fair 
value 

Fair 
value 

Fair 
value 

56
54

3,183
4,291

808
8,392

55
478

3,136
4,022
1,068

8,759

13,194
97

5,694
18,986

14,642
725

5,498
20,865

12-31-2009

12-31-2008

FINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS BY CATEGORY

notes to the consolidated financial statements42



Preem annual rePort 2009

Assets in balance sheet
Oil derivatives
Total

Liabilities in balance sheet
Oil derivatives
Interest rate swaps
Total

Assets in balance sheet
Derivatives 
Total

Liabilities in balance sheet
Oil derivatives
Interest rate swaps
Total

54
54

45
53
97

478
478

631
94

725

-
-

-
-
-

-
-

-
-
-

Level 2

Level 2

Level 1

Level 1

Level 3

Level 3

-
-

-
-
-

-
-

-
-
-

12-31-2009

12-31-2008

FINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS VALuED AT FAIR VALuE IN THE BALANCE SHEET.     
The table below shows financial instruments at fair value in the balance sheet, classified into the following three levels:   
  
Level 1: Fair value is based on quoted market prices on an active market for the same instruments.     
Level 2:  Fair value is based on quoted market prices on an active market for similar instruments, or on valuation techniques in which all 
variables are based on quoted market prices. This level includes oil derivatives in the form of swaps and options and interest rate swaps. 
Level 3: Fair value is based on valuation techniques and the essential variables are not based on quoted market prices.   
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Note 36. traNSactioNS With affiliateS  

Affiliate relationships that involve control
    
GROuP     
The Group is under a controlling influence from Corral Petroleum Holdings AB. In addition to the affiliate relationships described for the 
Group below, the parent company has affiliate relationships that involve a controlling influence with its subsidiaries, see note 113.
    

Corral Petroleum Holdings AB 

Corral Petroleum Holdings AB 

AB Djurgårdsberg
Göteborgs smörjmedelsfabrik (Scanlube) AB

AB Djurgårdsberg
Göteborgs smörjmedelsfabrik (Scanlube) AB

Huda Trading AB 
Capital Trust management ltd. 
midroc Gruppen i Skandinavien  
Société Anonyme marocaine de I’Industrie du raffinage (SAmIr) 
Corral marocco Gas and Oil AB 
Svenska Petroleum exploration AB 

Huda Trading AB 
Capital Trust management ltd. 
midroc Gruppen i Skandinavien  
Société Anonyme marocaine de I’Industrie du raffinage (SAmIr) 
Corral morocco Gas and Oil AB 
Svenska Petroleum exploration AB 

-

-

-
2

-
1

18
-
-
3

3,183
-

27
-
-
-

3,136
-

-

-

1
107

-
129

1,311
21

156
-
-
-

1,032
195
146

-
-
-

-

-

-
13

-
14

1,291
-
-
2
-
-

1,426
-
-
8
-
1

Receivable 
Dec 31

Receivable 
Dec 31

Receivable 
Dec 31

Receivable 
Dec 31

Receivable 
Dec 31

Receivable 
Dec 31

Purchases

Purchases

Purchases

Purchases

Purchases

Purchases

Sales 

Sales

Sales

Sales 

Sales

Sales 

Liabilities 
Dec 31

Liabilities 
Dec 31

Liabilities
Dec 31

Liabilities 
Dec 31

Liabilities 
Dec 31

Liabilities 
Dec 31

3

111

-
3

-
5

71
-

22
-
-
-

6
-
-
-

110
-

GROuP COMPANIES

GROuP COMPANIES

ASSOCIATES

ASSOCIATES

OTHER ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

OTHER ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

12-31-2009

12-31-2008
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Note 37. Number of employeeS  

Note 39. eveNtS after the balaNce Sheet date   

Note 38. geNder diStributioN iN compaNy maNagemeNt    

1,392

15
-
-

1,407

0%
25%

1,382

14
-
-

1,396

Parent company
Sweden

Group companies
Sweden
Poland
Ireland

GROuP TOTAL

Group total
Board of Directors
Other senior executives

 No. of
employees

2009
Share women

 No. of
employees

Of which
men, %

2008
Share women

Of which
men, %

77%

87%
-
-

77%

0%
25%

77%

86%
-
-

77%

20082009

AVERAGE NuMBER OF EMPLOYEES
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73,519
-9,736
63,783

-58,881
4,902

-678
-504
440

4,160

7
92

-520
-421

-
3,739
-1,005
2,734
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Income Statement
SeK millions

Net sales 
excise duties 
Sales revenues 

Cost of goods sold
Gross profit 

Selling expenses
Administrative expenses
Other operating income 
Operating profit/loss 

Profit from participations in Group companies 
Finance income 
Finance expenses 
Net financial items

Appropriations 
Profit/loss before tax
Tax on profit/loss for the year 
PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Note 5
Note 102

Note 6

Note 107
Notes 37-40, 103-106 and 126-127

Note 108

Note 109

Note 110

2009Note 2008

95,718
-8,382
87,336

-87,984
-648

-598
-598
562

-1,282

4
269

-2,375
-2,102

3,965
581
-147
434
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-
-

993
6,890

344
415
942

9,584

10
2
5

3,183
56
11

3,267
12,851

3,511
4,755
8,265

3,641
19
54

590
245

4,549

617

13,432

26,283
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Balance Sheet
SeK millions

NON-CuRRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets  
Goodwill 

Tangible non-current assets 
land and buildings 
Plant and machinery 
Capitalized turnaround costs
equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings 
Constructions in progress 

Financial non-current assets
Participations in Group companies 
receivables from Group companies 
Participations in associates 
receivables from affiliates
Financial assets held for trading 
Other non-current receivables 

Total non-current assets

CuRRENT ASSETS
Inventories  
raw materials and consumables
Finished goods

Receivables
Trade and other receivables
receivables from Group companies
Derivatives
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Note 111

Note 112
Note 112
Note 112
Note 112
Note 112

Note 113
Note 114

Note 19
Notes 20, 125
Notes 21, 125

Note 22
Note 22

Notes 115, 125

Notes 30, 125

Notes 124, 125

12-31-2009NoteASSETS 12-31-2008

44
44

1,011
6,840

479
468
703

9,501

71
1
5

3,136
55
20

3,288
12,833

2,260
2,963
5,223

3,306
406
478
646
262

5,098

856

11,177

24,010
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610
266
877

742
2,734
3,477

4,353

120
1,326

-
1,446

9,460
1
-
-

17
9,478

3,735
4

4,189
115

2
-

97
1,464
1,399

11,006
26,283

equity, provisions and liabilities
SeK millions

EQuITY
Restricted equity
Share capital (610,258 shares)
Statutory reserve

unrestricted equity
retained earnings
Profit/loss for the year

Total equity

PROVISIONS
Provisions for pensions 
Provisions for deferred tax
Other provisions 

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
liabilities to credit institutions 
liabilities to Group companies
Bank overdraft facilities 
Derivatives
Other non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
liabilities to credit institutions 
Advance payments from customers 
Trade and other payables
liabilities to Group companies
liabilities to associates
Current tax liabilities
Derivatives
Other liabilities
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 

TOTAL EQuITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES 

Pledged assets and contingent liabilities

Note 116

Note 117
Note 110
Note 118

Notes 119, 125

Notes 29, 125
Notes 30, 125

Notes 119, 125

Note 125

Notes 30, 125
Notes 120, 125

Note 121

Note 122

12-31-2009Note 12-31-2008

610
266
877

52
434
487

1,363

126
576

1
703

10,832
1

23
94
10

10,960

3,787
4

4,102
223

5
276
631

1,184
772

10,984
24,010
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OPENING EQuITY 01-01-2008

Appropriation of profits
merger difference
Profit/loss for the year
Group contribution paid 
Tax effect on Group contribution

EQuITY 12-31-2008

Appropriation of profits
Profit/loss for the year
Shareholder contributions received
Group contribution paid 
Tax effect on Group contribution

EQuITY 12-31-2009

3,174

-3,174
-

434
-
-

434

-434
2,734

-
-
-

2,734

266

-
-
-
-
-

266

-
-
-
-
-

266

-273

3,174
-2,679

-
-230

60

53

434
-

970
-969
255

742

610

-
-
-
-
-

610

-
-
-
-
-

610

Changes in equity
SeK millions

Profit/
Loss

for year
Statutory

reserve
Retained

profit/loss
Share 

capital
Total

Equity

3,777

-
-2,679

434
-230

60

1,363

-
2,734

970
-969
255

4,353

uNreSTrICTeD equITYreSTrICTeD equITY

the parent company’s financial statements 49



Preem annual rePort 2009

3,739
-591

3,148
-276

2,872

-1,945
79

984
1,990

-1,034
21

-
61

-952

4,690
-5,853

-5
-109

-1,277

-239
856

617

Cash Flow Statement 
SeK millions

Operating activities
Profit/loss before tax
Adjustments for items not included in cash flow

Tax paid
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital

Cash flow from changes in working capital
Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in inventories
Increase (-)/Decrease (+) in operating receivables
Increase (+)/Decrease (-) in operating liabilities
Cash flow from operating activities

Investment activities
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment
Disposal of property, plant & equipment
Investment in financial assets
Sale/reduction of financial assets
Cash flow from investment activities

Financing activities
New loans
repayment of loans
loan expenditures
Group contribution paid
Cash flow from financing activities

Cash flow for the year
Opening cash and cash equivalents
Cash received in connection with merger
CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQuIVALENTS

Note 123

Note 123
Note 124

2009Note 2008

-3,384
3,243

-141
-517

-658

1,856
1,628

-2,923
-97

-723
11

-52
1

-763

16,654
-14,915

-436
-119

1,184

324
526

6
856

the parent company’s financial statements50



Preem annual rePort 2009

Notes to the Parent Company’s 
financial statements
SeK millions

Preem AB (publ) corp. ID no. 556072-6977, is the parent company 
in the Preem AB Group and has its head office in Stockholm. The 
Group’s operations involve the extensive refining of crude oil and sale 
of petroleum products. Operational activities are primarily conducted 
by the Parent Company, Preem AB.
 
Preem has produced its annual report in accordance with the Swedish 
Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Financial reporting Board’s 
recommendation rFr 2.2 “Accounting for legal entities.” Also applied 
are the statements issued by the Swedish Financial reporting Board 
that apply for publicly listed companies. In accordance with rFr 2.2, 
a parent company whose consolidated financial statements comply 
with IFrS must produce its financial statements in accordance with 
the International Financial reporting Standards (IFrS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as well as interpre-
tations issued by the International Financial reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFrIC), as adopted by the european union, to the extent 
that these accounting policies and interpretations correspond with the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act, the Swedish Pension Security Act and 
with reference to the association between accounting and taxation. 
The recommendation states which exceptions from and additions to 
IFrS shall be observed.

The financial statements are presented in Swedish kronor, rounded to 
the nearest million. 

Differences between the Group’s and the Parent Company’s 
accounting policies 
The difference between the Group’s and the parent company’s ac-
counting policies is described below. The accounting policies described 
below for the Parent Company have been applied consistently for all 
periods presented in the Parent Company’s financial statements. 

A more detailed description of the accounting policies applied by the 
Group as well as significant estimates and assessments is contained in 
note 1 in the Consolidated financial statements. 

Classification and presentation methods
The parent company’s income statement and balance sheet are set out 
in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act’s schedule. 
The difference compared with IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 
Statements,” which is applied in the presentation of the Consolidated 
financial statements, relates primarily to the recognizing of non-current 
financial assets, current assets, equity, the presence of provisions as 
a separate heading in the Parent Company’s balance sheet, and non-
current and current liabilities. 

Subsidiaries and associates
Participations in subsidiaries and associates are recognized in the 
parent company according to the cost method. Dividends received 
are only recognized as income on the condition that they originate 
from profits earned after the acquisition. Dividends in excess of these 
earned profits are treated as repayment of the investment and reduce 
the carrying amount of the participation.

Note 101. SigNificaNt accouNtiNg policieS,  
pareNt compaNy

Leased assets
In the parent company all lease agreements are recognized in accord-
ance with the rules for operating leasing.

Employee benefits
The parent company applies different basic rules when calculating 
defined benefit plans than those described in IAS 19. The parent 
company observes the Swedish Pension Security Act’s provisions and 
the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority’s regulations, as this is a 
prerequisite for entitlement to tax deductions. The most significant  
differences compared with the rules in IAS 19 relate primarily to how 
the discount rate is defined and the fact that calculation of the defined 
benefit obligation takes place on the basis of the current wage level with 
no assumptions about future wage increases, and that all actuarial gains 
and losses are recognized in the income statement when they arise.
 
Income taxes
In the parent company, untaxed reserves are recognized in the balance 
sheet including deferred tax liability. In the consolidated financial 
statements, in contrast, untaxed reserves are divided into deferred 
tax liability and equity. There is no allocation in the Parent Company’s 
income statement of part of appropriations to deferred tax expense. 

Group contributions and stockholder contributions for legal 
entities
The company recognizes Group contributions and shareholders’ con-
tributions in accordance with the statements issued by the Swedish 
Financial reporting Board (uFr 2). Shareholders’ contributions are 
recognized directly as equity with the recipient and are capitalized in 
shares and participations with the donor, to the extent that impairment 
is not required. Group contributions are recognized in accordance 
with the financial substance. This means that Group contributions that 
are paid and received with a view to minimizing the Group’s total tax 
are recognized directly against retained earnings after a deduction for 
the actual tax affect.

Group contributions that are comparable to a dividend are recognized 
as a dividend. This means that a Group contribution received and its 
actual tax effect are recognized via the income statement. A Group 
contribution paid and its actual tax effect are recognized directly 
against retained earnings. 

A Group contribution that is comparable with a shareholders’ contri-
bution is recognized, with reference to the actual tax effect, with the 
recipient directly against retained earnings. The donor recognizes the 
Group contribution and its actual tax effect as an investment in partici-
pations in Group Companies.

Mergers
mergers are recognized in accordance with BFNAr 1999:1. This means 
that the parent company’s shares in the subsidiary are exchanged 
for assets and liabilities that the shares previously represented. This 
affects the equity in the recipient company. This is because the recip-
ient company receives any profit for the year plus any profit for the 
previous year that was accumulated after the company was acquired.

Goodwill
IFrS 3 Business Combinations is not applied in the parent company 
in respect of items 54-55, which deal with the treatment of Goodwill; 
instead the provisions on amortization in chapter 4, section 4 of the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act are applied. This means that goodwill 
is amortized in the Parent Company in contrast to the Group, where 
goodwill is only subject to impairment testing.
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-11,610
-13,877

27,483
39,758

13,525
15,880

11,148
15,791

61,867
85,333

25,152
31,787

Sales 2009
Sales 2008

Sales 2009
Sales 2008

Elim

Other countries

Marketing

Other Scandinavia

Supply & refining

Sweden

Total

Total

63,783
87,336

63,783
87,336

SALES PER SEGMENT

BY GEOGRAPHICAL REGION

Note 102. SegmeNt reportiNg 

Note 103. feeS to auditorS 

Note 104. depreciatioN

2.2
1.3

0.2
0.0

KPMG
Audit assignments
Other assignments

SET
Audit assignments
Other assignments

2009 2008

2.7
1.6

0.2
0.0

44
68

625
145

87
969

830
91
49

969

Goodwill
Buildings and land installations
Plant and machinery
Capitalized turnaround costs
equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings
Total

ALLOCATION BY FuNCTION

Cost of goods sold
Selling expenses
Administrative expenses

ALLOCATION OF DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIzATION
2009

2009

2008

2008

132
67

615
140

93
1,047

820
91

136
1,047
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Note 105. leaSiNg

Note 106. expeNSeS brokeN doWN by type of expeNSe 

Note 107. other operatiNg iNcome 

154
27

181

92
376

64

56,108
966
969

2,019
60,063

58,881
678
504

60,063

68
88
53

167
23
41

440

45
43
88

45
238

49

minimum lease charges
Variable charges
Total leasing expenses

Agreed future minimum lease charges
Within one year 
Between one and five years
longer than five years

LEASING INCOME IN RESPECT OF OPERATIONAL LEASING

minimum lease charges
Variable charges
Total leasing income

Agreed future minimum lease charges
Within one year 
Between one and five years
longer than five years

Product cost
Costs of employee benefits
Depreciation
Other expenses

Reconciliation with the income statement
Cost of goods sold
Selling expenses
Administrative expenses

Heating deliveries
rental income 
Harbor income
Storage certificates
Service compensation
Other
Total

LEASING CHARGES IN RESPECT OF OPERATIONAL LEASING
2009

2009

2009

2009

2008

2008

2008

2008

188
12

200

178
729
125

85,236
917

1,047
1,980

89,180

87,984
598
598

89,180

88
82
50

225
30
87

562

86
-

86

86
416

82
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Note 108. profit from participatioNS iN group compaNieS 

Note 109. fiNaNcial iNcome aNd expeNSeS 

Note 110. tax 

7
0
7

Dividend
Change in value of participations in trading companies
Total

2009 2008

4
0
4

183
-91
92

41
-105
-64

-5

-842
-58
495
-47

-520

-255
-255

-750
-1,005

2009
3,739

-983
-12

-3
2

-8
-

-1,005

255
-

Interest income from instruments valued at accrued cost value 
Net exchange rate differences 
Finance income 
 
Net loss 
- Instruments valued at fair value 
- Financial liabilities valued at accrued cost value 
Total net loss 
 
Interest expense from defined benefit unfunded pension obligation 
Interest expense from instruments valued at 
accrued cost value1 
Interest expense from instruments valued at fair value 
Net exchange rate change 
Other 
Finance expenses 

CuRRENT TAX EXPENSE(-)/ TAX INCOME(+)
Tax expense for the period

DEFERRED TAX EXPENSE(-)/ TAX INCOME(+)
Deferred tax in respect of temporary differences
Total recognized tax expense

RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX
Profit/loss before tax
Income tax calculated according to the prevailing tax rate for the parent company
Amortization of goodwill
Other non-deductible expenses
Non-taxable income
Tax attributable to previous years
effect of future change in income tax
Recorded tax

TAX ITEMS RECOGNIzED DIRECTLY IN EQuITY
Current tax in Group contributions received/paid
Deferred tax in Group contributions paid

Weighted average tax rate is 26.9% (25.3%).

2009

2009

2008

2008

230
39

269

-65
-233
-298

-7

-938
-17

-1,105
-10

-2,375

-6
-6

-141
-147

2008
581

-163
-37

-6
2

15
42

-147

-
61

1) Of which interest rate expense from accrued loan expenses, SeK 147 million (100).
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8
-

14

8
-

879
9

-
-
-
-

-

2
123

4
129
-879
-750

4
-1,469

9
-1,456

879
-576

12-31-2009
land and buildings
machinery and equipment
Other
Net asset/liability

12-31-2008
land and buildings
machinery and equipment
Deficit
Other
Net asset/liability

Parent company
land and buildings
machinery and equipment
Other
Total temporary differences
loss carryforwards
Total

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND TAX LIABILITIES

CHANGE IN DEFERRED TAX IN TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES AND LOSS CARRYFORwARDS

GOODwILL

Defferred
tax assets

Other
changes

Recognized in
income stmt

Amount at
start of year

Defferred
tax liabilities

Amount at
end of year

-2
-1,346

-1
-1,326

-3
-1,469

-
-

-576

6
-1,346

13
-1,326

-
-1,326

Note 111. iNtaNgible aSSetS 

1,099
-1,099

-

1,055
44

-1,099
-

-

Opening cost value
Disposals
Closing accumulated cost value

Opening amortization
Amortization for the year
Disposals
Closing accumulated amortization

CARRYING AMOuNT

2009 2008

1,099
-

1,099

923
132

-
1,055

44
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Note 112. property, plaNt aNd equipmeNt  

LAND AND BuILDINGS

PLANT AND MACHINERY1

CAPITALIzED TuRNAROuND COSTS

2,086
1
2

-44
60

2,105

1,075
-31
68

1,112

993

14,323
8

1,176
-16
262

15,752

7,483
767
-13
625

8,862

6,890

721
10

731

242
145
387

344

Opening cost value
Investments during the year
Acquisitions from subsidiaries
Sales/Disposals
Completion of constructions in progress
Closing accumulated cost value

Opening depreciation
Sales/Disposals
Depreciation for the year
Closing accumulated depreciation

CARRYING AMOuNT

Opening cost value 
Investments during the year 
Acquisitions from subsidiaries 
Sales/Disposals 
Completion of constructions in progress 
Closing accumulated cost value 
 
Opening depreciation 
Acquisitions from subsidiaries 
Sales/Disposals 
Depreciation for the year  
Closing accumulated depreciation 
 
CARRYING AMOuNT 
 
1) Carrying amount includes platinum and palladium at SeK 138 million (137). 

Opening cost value
Investments during the year
Closing accumulated cost value

Opening depreciation
Depreciation for the year
Closing accumulated depreciation

CARRYING AMOuNT

2009

2009

2009

2008

2008

2008

1,977
3
-

-14
120

2,086

1,015
-7
67

1,075

1,011

13,974
27

-
-14
336

14,323

6,881
-

-13
615

7,483

6,840

717
4

721

102
140
242

479
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EQuIPMENT, TOOLS, FIXTuRES AND FITTINGS

CONSTRuCTIONS IN PROGRESS

TAX ASSESSMENT VALuES

1,327
-

-69
44

1,303

859
-59
87

888

415

703
606

-366
942

544
631

3,318
4,493

Opening cost value
Investments during the year
Sales/Disposals
Completion of constructions in progress
Closing accumulated cost value

Opening depreciation
Sales/Disposals
Depreciation for the year
Closing accumulated depreciation

CARRYING AMOuNT

Opening cost value 
Investments during the year
Completion of constructions in progress
CARRYING AMOuNT1

1) Includes planning costs of SeK 311 million (272).

Buildings
land
Plant and machinery

2009

2009

2009

2008

2008

2008

1,300
1

-46
72

1,327

806
-41
94

859

468

543
688

-528
703

1,015
453

2,772
4,240
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Note 113. participatioNS iN group compaNieS   

At beginning of year
liquidation trading companies
merger

ACCuMuLATED AMORTIzATION/IMPAIRMENT (IN SEK THOuSAND)
At beginning of year

CARRYING AMOuNT AT END OF PERIOD

2008

Corp. ID no.

2009

278,145
-

-198,211
79,934

-9,117
-9,117

70,817

969633-6743

79,934
-60,439

-
19,495

-9,117
-9,117

10,378

Operating
Preem Gas AB (publ) 
Svensk Petroleum Förvaltning AB
Preem Technology AB
ODAB Svensk Oljedistribution AB

Dormant
Svenska Petroleum AB
Såifa Drivmedel AB

FOREIGN COMPANIES
Preem Insurance Company ltd., Ireland
Preem Petroleum Wybrzeze Sp.z.o.o., Poland   
 
 
TOTAL

70
66

100
100

100
100

100
100

1,750
664

4,000
2,000

1,000
5,000

7,500
3,000

Stockholm
Stockholm

lysekil
Stockholm

Stockholm
Stockholm

Dublin
Gdynia

556037-2970
556067-8459
556117-6610
556264-6835

556046-4819
556039-7001

rHB 11623

Participating
interests %

No. of
shares

Registered
 officeCorp. ID no.

Recognized
value in
1000’s

6,348
74

0
240

100
599

7,360

3,018
0

3,018

10,378

SwEDISH COMPANIES

CLOSING ACCuMuLATED COST VALuE (IN SEK THOuSAND)

SuBSIDIARY LIQuIDATED DuRING THE YEAR:

Syrhåla Handelsbolag
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Note 114. receivableS from group compaNieS   

Note 115. trade aNd other receivableS 

1
-
-

2

3,664
-22

3,641

3,641

145
11

7
17

180

29

-

6
-13

22

Opening cost value
Change during the year
merger
Closing accumulated cost value

Trade and other receivables 
reserve for doubtful receivables
Total

Fair value of trade and other receivables

less than 10 days
Between 10 and 20 days
Between 21 and 30 days
more than 30 days
Total

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD

Amount merged
This year’s reserve for doubtful receivables/reversed 
unutilized amounts
Confirmed losses during the year

AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

The accounting policies applied are described in note 23 for the Group.

2009

2009

2009

2009

2009

2008

2008

2008

2008

2008

27
-1

-25
1

3,335
-29

3,306

3,306

201
18
32
28

279

28

4

19
-22

29

As a rule there is not considered to be any impairment need for trade and other receivables that have been due for payment for less 
than three months. As of December 31, 2009, trade and other receivables totaling SeK 180 million (279) were due without any need for 
impairment being considered to exist. These relate to a number of independent customers that have not previously had any payment 
problems. The age analysis of these trade and other receivables is shown below:     

The reserve for doubtful trade and other receivables totaled SeK 22 million (29) on December 31, 2009.  receivables are recognized as doubtful re- 
ceivables when objective information exists, e.g., in the form of cancelled payments or receivables not being settled after being due for 3 months.  
    
receivables in the reserve for doubtful trade and other receivables are as follows:      
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Note 116. equity

Note 117. proviSioNS for peNSioNS 

Note 118. other proviSioNS

120
120

126

4
-10

120

4
4

120

Net liability in balance sheet 
Current value of obligation (calculated according to Swedish principles) 
in respect of unfunded pension plans 
Net amount recorded in respect of pension obligations 
 
Changes in net liability 
Net liability at beginning of year in respect of pension obligations 
retirement cost recorded in the income statement 
under own auspices excl. taxes 
Pension payments 
 
Costs in respect of retirement under own auspices 
Interest expenses 
 
 
Of which covered by credit insurance via FPG/PrI 

2009 2008

126
126

131

4
-9

126

4
4

126

Statutory reserve      
The statutory reserve comprises restricted equity and is set aside in accordance with the Swedish Companies Act (1975:1385)  
previously in force.      

unrestricted equity      
unrestricted equity comprises the previous year’s unrestricted equity plus the profit/loss for the year, received unconditional share- 
holders’ contributions and received and paid Group contributions.       
      
Number of shares and appropriation of profit      
The number of shares issued totals 610,258, all of which are class A shares. The shares are paid in full and the number of shares is the 
same at both the beginning and the end of the year. The quota value is SeK 1,000/share.      

Dividend      
No dividend was paid in 2009. The conditions of the Group’s borrowing prevent the payment of a dividend to shareholders. 

Opening balance 2008
Provisions during the year
reclassification from other current liabilities
Amount used 
unutilized amounts that have been reversed
Closing balance 2008

Provisions during the year
Amount used 
unutilized amounts that have been reversed
Closing balance 2009

TotalOtherEnvironmental restoration

8
1
-
-

-8
1

-
-1

-
-

-
1
-
-
-

1

-
-1

-
-

8
-
-
-

-8
-

-
-
-
-
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Note 119.  liabilitieS to credit iNStitutioNS

Note 120. other liabilitieS

Note 121. accrued expeNSeS aNd prepaid iNcome

Note 122. pledged aSSetS aNd coNtiNgeNt liabilitieS   

7,965
5,488

-3,735
9,718

-258
9,460

467
858
139

1,464

1,075
213

10
101

1,399

4,087
2,916

52
7,055

53
2
-

55

Parent company
loans in SeK 
loans in uSD 
minus repayment within 1 year
Total long-term loans parent company
Transaction expenses 
NET LONG-TERM BORROwING

Value Added Tax
excise duties1

Other liabilities

Purchases of crude oil and products
Personnel
Interest
Other

Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Deposits

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Sureties in favor of associates
Guarantees FPG/PrI
liability as partner in trading companies

2009

2009

2009

2009

2008

2008

2008

2008

8,943
6,076

-3,788
11,231

-399
10,832

425
673

86
1,184

262
189
263

58
772

2,646
2,775

340
5,761

53
3
2

58

Total2014-201320122011

9,718---9,718

REPAYMENT PLAN

PLEDGED ASSETS 

1) excise duties refer to energy tax, gasoline tax, carbon dioxide tax, sulfur tax and alcohol tax.  
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Note 123. SupplemeNtary iNformatioN for the caSh floW StatemeNt

7
28

-750

969
-1,098

-296
-156
147

-157
-
4

-6
-591

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-

Interest paid and dividend received
Dividend received
Interest received
Interest paid

Adjustment for items not included in cash flow, etc.
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of non-current assets
reversed impairment of inventories/Impairment of inventories
unrealized exchange rate losses+/exchange rate gains-
unrealized loss+/gain- on oil and interest rate swaps
element of capitalized borrowing costs recognized as expenses
Cash interest not received
Provisions
Capital gain from the sale or disposal of non-current assets
Other

Mergers
During the previous year Corral Petroleum Holdings AB and Preem Finans AB merged with Preem AB.

equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings
Shares and participations in subsidiaries
loans to affiliates
Trade and other receivables
receivables from Group companies
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Cash and cash equivalents - effect on cash flow

Total assets introduced into parent company

liabilities to credit institutions
Trade and other payables
liabilities to Group companies
Current tax liabilities
Other current liabilities
Accrued expenses and prepaid income

Total liabilities introduced into parent company

MERGER DIFFERENCE RECORDED IN EQuITY

2009 2008

4
104

-842

1,047
1,098

733
218
333

-157
-7
1

-23
3,243

0
-198

3,136
2,371

29
2

121
6

5,467

6,013
1

1,765
65
23

279

8,146

-2,679

Pledging of inventories and accounts receivable relating to security in connection with the compliance of the obligation of the company’s 
syndicated bank loans.      
      
The deposits relate primarily to guarantees issued in connection with trade in oil derivatives. These amounts fall due for payment if the 
company does not meet its commitments.      
      
Other contingent liabilities      
A future closure of operations within the company may involve a requirement for remediation and restoration work. This is, however, 
considered to be well into the future and the future expenses cannot be calculated reliably.
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Note 124. caSh aNd caSh equivaleNtS  

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet and the cash flow statement include the following with a maturity date less than three 
months after acquisition.     

As of December 31, SeK 0 million (38) of the cash and cash equivalents were blocked from use.   

380
237
617

Current investments
Cash and bank balances

2009 2008

665
191
856

Note 125. fiNaNcial iNStrumeNtS by category  

Assets in balance sheet
Holding of other long-term securities
Derivatives 
lending to affiliates
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Assets in balance sheet
Holding of other long-term securities
Derivatives 
lending to affiliates
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Liabilities in balance sheet
Borrowing
Derivatives 
Other liabilities
Total

Liabilities in balance sheet
Borrowing
Derivatives 
Other liabilities
Total

56
54

3,183
4,263

617
8,173

55
478

3,136
4,381

856
8,906

13,194
97

5,799
19,090

14,642
725

5,583
20,950

56
-
-
-
-

56

55
-
-
-
-

55

13,194
-

5,799
18,993

14,642
-

5,583
20,225

-
54

-
-
-

54

-
478

-
-
-

478

-
97

-
97

-
725

-
725

-
-

3,183
4,263

617
8,063

-
-

3,136
4,381

856
8,373

Recognized 
value

Recognized 
value

Recognized 
value

Recognized 
value

Available 
for sale

Available 
for sale

Other financial 
liabilities

Other financial 
liabilities

Assets valued at fair 
value via income 

statement

Assets valued at fair 
value via income 

statement

Liabilities valued at 
fair value via income 

statement

Liabilities valued at 
fair value via income 

statement

Loan and trade & 
other receivables

Loan and trade & 
other receivables

Fair 
value

Fair 
value

Fair 
value

Fair 
value

56
54

3,183
4,263

617
8,173

55
478

3,136
4,381

856
8,906

13,194
97

5,799
19,090

14,642
725

5,583
20,950

12-31-2009

12-31-2008
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Note 126. geNder diStributioN iN compaNy maNagemeNt

Note 127. employeeS’ Sick leave iN pareNt compaNy   

2.6%

39.7%

3.6%

2.4%

1.9%

2.3%

3.3%

Total sick leave in relation to total basic working hours

Proportion of total sick leave that has lasted 60 days or more
(long-term sick leave)

Sick leave for women in relation to total basic
working hours for women

Sick leave for men in relation to total basic
working hours for men

Sick leave for age group 29 or less in relation to
total basic working hours for this group

Sick leave for age group 30-49 in relation to
total basic working hours for this group

Sick leave for age group 50 or more in relation to
total basic working hours for this group

2009 2008

2.9%

48.3%

4.2%

2.4%

2.1%

2.7%

3.2%

29%Senior executives

2009
Share female

2008
Share female

29%
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  Stockholm, may 7, 2010    

  mohammed H. Al Amoudi   
  Chairman   

Bassam Aburdene Ghazi Habib   Jan Henricsson
     Employee representative 

Per Höjgård Jason Tadwell milazzo   Cristian mattsson
     Employee representative 

lars Nelson John Oswald   lennart Sundén

Sven-erik Zachrisson richard Öhman

  michael G:son löw   
  President and CEO    

Our audit report was submitted on may 7, 2010   

Cronie Wallquist Willard möller   
Authorized Public Accountant Authorized Public Accountant   
KPMG AB     
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Audit report

audit report66

To the annual meeting of the shareholders of Preem AB (publ)

Corporate identity number 556072-6977

We have audited the annual accounts, the consolidated accounts, the accounting records and the administration of the board of directors 
and the managing director of Preem AB (publ) for the year 2009.  The board of directors and the managing director are responsible for 
these accounts and the administration of the company as well as for the application of the Annual Accounts Act when preparing the an-
nual accounts and the application of international financial reporting standards IFrSs as adopted by the eu and the Annual Accounts Act 
when preparing the consolidated accounts. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the annual accounts, the consolidated accounts 
and the administration based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts are free of material missta-
tement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and their application by board of directors and the managing director and significant 
estimates made by the board of directors and the managing director when preparing the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of information in the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts. As a basis for our 
opinion concerning discharge from liability, we examined significant decisions, actions taken and circumstances of the company in order 
to be able to determine the liability, if any, to the company of any board member or the managing director. We also examined whether 
board member or the managing director has, in any other way, acted in contravention of the Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or 
the Articles of Association. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion set out below. 

The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and give a true and fair view of the company’s 
financial position and results of operations in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Sweden. The consolidated 
accounts have been prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards IFrSs as adopted by the eu and the Annual 
Accounts Act and give a true and fair view of the group’s financial position and results of operations. The statutory administration report is 
consistent with the other parts of the annual accounts and the consolidated accounts.

We recommend to the annual meeting of shareholders that the income statement and balance sheet of the parent company and the 
statement of comprehensive income and the balance sheet of the group be adopted, that the profit of the parent company be dealt with in 
accordance with the proposal in the statutory administration report and that the board of directors and the managing director be discharged 
from liability for the financial year.

Stockholm may 7, 2010 
(signature on original document)

Cronie wallquist
Authorized Public Accountant

KPmG AB

willard Möller
Authorized Public Accountant
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Summary of the Preem Group’s operations 

Sales revenues, SeK millions
Profit/loss after financial items, SeK millions
return on working capital, %
return on adjusted equity, %
Investments in equipment1 SeK millions
Self-financing ratio, multiple
Balance sheet total, SeK millions
Working capital, SeK millions
Average adjusted equity, SeK millions
equity/capital ratio, %
Net debt/equity ratio
Average number of employees

 2009  20082  20072  2006  2005

53,374
4,102

35
35

2,455
1.30

23,433
11,251

8,183
31

0.51
1,760

67,435
1,859

21
20

831
5.98

22,407
12,743

6,604
26

0.95
1,697

63,914
3,248

26
69

1,562
0.87

28,333
16,596

3,364
15

2.79
1,485

87,375
-3,150

Neg
Neg
726

0.08
24,534
16,689

4,807
7

7.51
1,407

63,813
3,828

27
72

641
2.56

26,827
18,241

3,910
18

2.56
1,396

1)  excluding equipment acquired through company acquisitions  
2)  After merger with Corral Petroleum Holdings AB      
     
DEFINITIONS
     
working capital
Total assets minus interest-free operating liabilities. Interest-free operating liabilities include deferred tax in untaxed reserves.  
    
Adjusted equity
equity including stakeholders’ loans.      
      
Return on working capital
Profit (loss) before borrowing costs in relation to average working capital.      
     
Self-financing ratio
Net financing from operations during the year according to the consolidated cash flow statement in relation to investments in equipment. 
    
Return on adjusted equity
Profit (loss) after tax in relation to average adjusted equity.     
     
Equity/assets ratio
Adjusted equity in relation to balance sheet total.     
     
Net debt/equity ratio
Interest-bearing liabilities minus cash and cash equivalents in relation to average adjusted equity.     
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Board of Directors

London. Born 1966.
Until May 13, 2009

New York. Born 1959.

London. Born 1962.
Vice Chairman.
From August 19, 2009

Fiskebäckskil. Born 1941.

 
Jeddah. Born 1946. 
Chairman.

London. Born 1948.

Stockholm. Born 1951. 
President and CEO.
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Mohammed H. Al Amoudi Michael G:son Löwjason Tadwell Milazzo

Jeddah. Born 1950. Stockholm. Born 1948.

Ghazi Habib Per Höjgård

Lars Nelson 

Bassam Aburdene

Karim Karaman john P. Oswald
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employee representatives

London. Born 1951.

 
Gothenburg. Born 1966.  
Employee representative.

Almunge. Born 1952.

Mölndal. Born 1973. 
Employee representative.

Stockholm. Born 1963. 
Employee representative.

Nacka. Born 1930. 
Until March 7, 2010

Lidingö. Born 1950.
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Kungshamn. Born 1968. 
Employee representative.

Lennart Sundén

Richard Öhman

jan Henricsson Eva Lind Grennfelt Eivind Hörsdal Simonsen Cristian Mattsson

Sven-Erik zachrisson Carl johan Åberg
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senior management70

Senior management

Ingrid Bodin, Director Supply & refining
michael G:son löw, President and CeO
magnus Heimburg, Chief Financial Officer

Per Olsson, Director Preemraff
martina Smedman, Director Hr
Andreas Viefhaus, Director marketing

Top row, from left: Bottom row, from left:






